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OPINION

WIESE, Judge.



INTRODUCTION

Thiscase comes before the court as one of more than ahundred pending suits
known collectively asthe Winstar litigation, each involving an agreement executed
in the late 1980s between a savings and loan institution (a “thrift”) and the federal
government. In United States v. Winstar Corp., 518 U.S. 839 (1996), the Supreme
Court ruled that Congress' s passage of the Financial Institutions Reform, Recovery,
and Enforcement Act of 1989 (“FIRREA”), Pub. L. No. 101-73, 103 Stat. 183
(codified as amended in various sections of 12 U.S.C.), had the effect of breaching
the Winstar Corporation’s contract with the government by, among other things,
withdrawing the assurances of special regulatory treatment that the corporation had
received from federal regulators as part of its contract for the takeover of afailed
thrift.

Theruling in Winstar was subsequently extended to thiscasein adecision on
cross-motions for summary judgment entered by Chief Judge Smith on February 2,
1999. Castle v. United States, 42 Fed. Cl. 859 (1999). Following that decision on
liability, the case was transferred to the undersigned judge for the conducting of all
further proceedings, including the determination of damages. Based onthetestimony
devel oped during the course of alengthy trial, the court now concludesthat plaintiffs
are entitled to an award in restitution of $15,122,360.

FACTS

This case arises out of the savings and loan crisis of the late 1980s, a more
complete discussion of which can be found in United States v. Winstar Corp., 518
U.S. 839, 844-848 (1996). For our purposes, itissufficient to notethat risinginterest
ratesin the latter years of that decade caused the insolvency of a number of savings
and loan institutions, as short-term costsfor attracting new depositsfar exceeded the
income being earned on earlier-generated mortgages. Astheinsurer of thrift deposits,
the Federal Savingsand Loan Insurance Corporation (FSLIC) wasthusfaced withthe
likelihood of havingto liquidate hundreds of failing thrifts at acost well in excess of
that agency’ sthen-existing funding capability. Inan effort to avoid bankruptcy of the
insurance fund, FSLIC therefore entered into a series of contracts with both private
investorsand healthy thrifts, encouraging themto assumeresponsibility for theailing
institutions.  These agreements — and their subsequent breach by FIRREA — now
form the basis for the Winstar litigation.

It was against this background that Western Empire Savings and Loan
Association (“Western Empire” or “the bank”), a two-branch savings and loan



located in Irvine, California, found itself financially insolvent in late 1988. Attempts
to find a buyer and shore up its capital base eventually led Western Empire into
discussionswith CastleHarlan, Inc. (“ CastleHarlan”), aprivately owned investment
banking firm that was interested in acquiring a troubled thrift as a vehicle through
which to invest in high-yield bonds (also known as “junk bonds’). After severa
months of negotiations with government regulators, Castle Harlan, acting on behalf
of the 22 investors who became shareholdersin the successor bank and who appear
asplaintiffsin the present litigation, agreed to infuse Western Empire with up to $25
million in new capital in exchange for certain regulatory forbearances.

The resulting contract — entered into in December 1988 and signed by the
regulators, Castle Harlan, and the bank — promised special regulatory treatment to
thebank in exchange for the takeover and recapitalization of theinsolvent thrift.? As

! Inlieu of the $25 millionin capital originally contemplated by the business
plan, the bank began operations with only $12.5 million in equity (stock) and an
additional $2.5 million in subordinated debt (bonds). Castle Harlan did expect,
however, to attract the balance of theinitially envisioned funding in the early months
of 1989.

2 Essentially four promises made up the essence of the government’'s
commitment:

First, the contract specified that for aperiod of five years, the bank would be
permitted to meet the lesser of either the standard regulatory capital requirements, or
the “Modified Regulatory Capital” requirement set forth in the contract documents.
The bank would additionally be subject to a two percent “Tangible Capital”
requirement which, if not met, would trigger a 90-day cure period in which the bank
would be required to return to capital compliance or be subject to seizure.

Second, the contract provided that goodwill would be determined in
accordance with purchase method accounting and could be amortized over a period
of 20 years. The bank was also permitted to include goodwill, as well as preferred
stock and subordinated debt, in its regulatory capital base.

Third, the contract authorized the bank to invest up to 25% of itstotal assets
in high-yield bonds during the first six months of operation, and up to 35% of its
assets in high-yield bonds thereafter. Because the bonds were to be held for
investment, it was understood that, under generally accepted accounting principles,
the bank would be permitted to carry the high-yield bonds on its books at historical
cost rather than the lower of cost or market (“LOCOM™) as required when securities
are“held for sale.”

(continued...)



part of that agreement, Castle Harlan submitted a business plan whose operating
strategy was relatively straightforward: investments in high-yield bonds (to take
advantage of the spread between the bank’s cost of funds and the yield from the
bonds), supplemented by more traditional thrift functions such as residentia
mortgage originations and investments in mortgage-backed securities.

From the beginning, however, the bank’s performance lagged behind the
projections set forth in the business plan. Commercial real estate properties —
acquired as the result of loan foreclosures — proved more costly and difficult to
dispose of than anticipated; mortgage-origination rates fell short of those predicted,
and long-term deposits— theinitially-proposed funding source for the bank’ s high-
yield bonds — proved unobtainable. Due in part to these initial difficulties, the
Office of Thrift Supervision informed the bank’ s management in September 1989
that the bank had fallen out of tangible capital compliance (the requirement that the
capital level be maintained at a minimum of 2% of total liabilities) and that, by the
terms of its contract, it had 90 days in which to cure the deficiency. 1n response to
this capital shortfall, Western Empire’s management elected to shrink the bank’s
asset base, thusremedying its capital deficiency without having to face the necessity
of raising additional capital.

OnAugust 8, 1989, roughly el ght monthsafter CastleHarlan had commenced
operation of the bank, FIRREA was enacted. Although plaintiffsinitially believed
that the regulators would be willing to strike a balance between the enforcement of
FIRREA and the preservation of the essential components of the bank’s business
plan, that belief was short-lived.

In aletter dated October 23, 1989, the bank was advised by the regulatorsthat
its original business plan was “no longer practicable in the wake of the passage of
[FIRREA].” The bank wasinstructed to sell off its high-yield bond portfolio and to
come into compliance with the capital requirementsintroduced by FIRREA. Faced
with thisdrastic revision of their business plan — the cornerstone of which was the
ability to invest in and hold high-yield bonds — plaintiffs met in January 1990 to
discuss alternatives for keeping the bank afloat. Having consulted with the original
investors, each of whom expressed interest in contributing additional funds under
“appropriate circumstances,” Castle Harlan approached theregul atorswith aproposal
to “spin off” the bond portfolio (i.e., to restructure the portfolio as a separate,
collateralized bond undertaking), and to replace these divested assets with cash and
apromissory note. The regulators rejected this proposal.

?(...continued)

Fourth, the contract exempted the bank from regulatory liability growth
limitations for a period of two yearsin order to allow the bank to increaseits assets
more quickly and thus to generate greater income.
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In February 1990, thebank, having failed to achieve compliancewiththe new
capital requirements imposed by FIRREA, was seized by regulatory authorities.

Plaintiffs filed suit in this court on September 25, 1990. In their complaint,
plaintiffscontend that the enactment and implementation of FIRREA, combined with
the subsequent seizure of the bank, constitute a breach of contract that entitles them
either to an award of damages or to restitution. Plaintiffs also maintain, as an
aternative to their contract-based claims, that the government’ s actions amount to
a deprivation of their property rights for which they are owed just compensation
under the Takings Clause of the Fifth Amendment.

The court has been asked to rule on each of plaintiffs claims for monetary
relief in order to minimize the possible need for aretrial following an appeal. We
honor this request. By addressing, in the aternative, all of plaintiffs’ theories of
recovery, we hope not only to reduce the likelihood of futurelitigationinthisaction,
but perhaps also to extend the usefulness of the opinion to other Winstar suits still
awaiting resolution.

DISCUSSION
PART |

Before considering the case on its merits, we turn first to the various
challenges raised by defendant in opposition to both the FDIC and the shareholder-
plaintiffs rights to pursue their claims in this court. Specifically, defendant
maintains that the FDIC may not participate in this litigation because its motion to
intervene was untimely, that the FDIC's prosecution of the present action is
impermissible as it amounts to a suit by the government against itself, and that the
bank, rather than the sharehol der-plaintiffs, alone may pursueaclaimfor lost profits.
We examine these contentions in turn.

The Timeliness of the FDIC's Intervention

As mentioned above, the shareholder-plaintiffs first filed suit in this court
on September 25, 1990. The FDIC, however, did not seek to intervene in this case
until March 14, 1997 — more than six years after the April 16, 1990 accrual date
for Winstar-related contract claims established by the Federal Circuit’s decisionin
Ariadne Fin. Servs. Pty. Ltd. v. United States, 133 F.3d 874 (Fed. Cir. 1998). That
delay, in defendant’ sview, meansthat the FDICisnow barred under this court’ ssix-
year limitations period, 28 U.S.C. § 2501 (1994), from litigating its claim.




In response, the FDIC asserts that a tolling agreement reached between its
predecessor and the government effectively suspends the running of the limitations
period, so that its intervention under the agreement istimely. In the alternative, the
FDIC arguesthat asthereal party ininterest, it may join the shareholder-plaintiffs
earlier-filed action, with its intervention relating back to the date of the original
complaint. Of these arguments, we conclude that only the second has merit.

In describing its tolling agreement with the government, the FDIC explains
that itsstatutory predecessor, the Resolution Trust Corporation (*RTC”), had entered
into an agreement with the Department of Justice purportingto toll the running of the
statute of limitations with respect to certain claims, referred to as the “Goodwill
Claims,” arising out of the contract breaches precipitated by the enactment of
FIRREA. TheFDIC maintainsthat under the termsof thisagreement, the RTC (and
now the FDIC) was granted a period of 130 days following the entry of a final
judgment in the Winstar case in which to decide whether to initiate litigation as
receiver for the failed thrift institutions. Since that cut-off date has not yet arrived,
the FDIC insists that its joinder here in 1997 was timely.

The difficulty with the FDIC’ sargument isthat it presumes that the running
of the statute of limitations can be tolled by mutual agreement of the parties. That
position reflects a view of the law, however, to which we cannot subscribe. The
limitations period applicable to the actions brought in this court is a condition that
attaches to the sovereign’ s waiver of immunity from suit and “ defines the limits of
the. .. court’sjurisdiction to hear aclaim against the United States.” Henderson v.
United States, 517 U.S. 654, 677 (1996) (Thomas, J., dissenting). Moreover, those
limits have been expressed in terms that admit of no qualification: “Every claim of
which the United States Court of Federal Claims has jurisdiction shall be barred
unlessthe petition thereon isfiled within six years after such claimfirst accrues.” 28
U.S.C. § 2501 (1994). Given the explicitness of this statutory language and
recognizing also that it isto be read “with that conservatism which is appropriatein
the case of awaiver of sovereign immunity,” United States v. Sherwood, 312 U.S.
584, 590 (1941), thiscourt iscompelled to reject the notion that litigating parties can
modify the terms that Congress has specified for the initiation of suits against the
United States. “The matter is not one of procedure but of jurisdiction whose limits
are marked by the Government’s consent to be sued.” Id. a 591. The FDIC's
agreement with the Department of Justice to toll the statute of limitationsisalega
nullity.

We turn then to the FDIC’ s second argument in support of the timeliness of
itsintervention— the assertion that, asthereal party ininterest, the FDIC may relate
itsdate of filing back to the date of the shareholder-plaintiffs originally filed claim.
In support of this position, the FDIC relies primarily on this court’s rule 17(a) (and
itsvirtually identical federal rules counterpart), which provides that an action filed



by aplaintiff other thanthereal party ininterest may be amended to permit either the
joinder or the substitution of thereal party in interest, with the subsequent action to
be treated as if it had been “commenced in the name of the real party in interest.”
RCFC 17(a).?

In interpreting Rule 17(a), courts have uniformly held that where suit is
commenced by one who arguably has an interest in the enforcement of the claim and
thereal party ininterest islater brought into thelitigation, the joinder or substitution
of the real party in interest relates back for limitations purposes to the date of the
original pleading. See, e.q., South African Marine Corp. v. United States, 640 F.
Supp. 247, 253-54 (Ct. Int’'| Trade 1986); Prevor-Mayorsohn Caribbean, Inc. v.
Puerto Rico MarineMgmt., Inc., 620 F.2d 1, 3n.2 (1* Cir. 1980); Link Aviation, Inc.
v. Downs, 325 F.2d 613, 614-615 (D.C. Cir. 1963). Asfurther explainedin Wright's
Federal Practice and Procedure, 6A Charles Alan Wright et al. 8 1555 (2d ed. 1990):
“Thefina sentencein Rule 17(a) is designed to avoid forfeiture and injustice when
an understandable mistake has been made in selecting the party in whose name the
action should be brought. Thus, a correction in parties is permitted even after the
statute of limitations governing the action has run.”

Defendant maintains, however, that the FDIC’ s intervention cannot relate
back to thefiling date of the original complaint because that complaint did not assert
aclaim on behalf of the failed thrift but rather a claim on behalf of the individual
shareholders. As a result, defendant argues, “the FDIC cannot use the investor
plaintiffs complaint as a surrogate for [its] claim on behalf of [the bank].”

We cannot accept this contention. The core dispute presented in the
complaint involves the government’s breach, occasioned by the enactment of
FIRREA, of specific contractua rights which the “FHLBB [Federal Home Loan
Bank Board] granted Western Empire and itsinvestors.”* The source of these rights
isidentified asthose “set forth in, inter alia, an Acquisition Approval Letter issued
by FHLBB, and aRegulatory Capital Maintenance Agreement . . . entered into by the
‘new’ Western Empire, plaintiffs Castle and Harlan, and FSLIC.” In view of these
recitals, there can be no question that the contract rights brought into issue in the

¥ Under this court’ sRule 17(a), an action may not be dismissed ontheground
that it is not being prosecuted in the name of the rea party in interest “until a
reasonabl e time has been allowed after objection for ratification of commencement
of the action by, or joinder or substitution of, the real party in interest; and such
ratification, joinder, or substitution shall have the same effect as if the action had
been commenced in the name of the real party in interest.”

* The quoted material is taken from Paragraph 37 of the First Amended
Complaint that wasfiled in this court on April 4, 1997.
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complaint implicate the bank’s rights at least to the same extent as those of the
shareholder-plaintiffs. Therefore, the fact that the complaint filed sought recovery
only in the name of the shareholder-plaintiffs (and not also the bank) can hardly
provide areason for saying that the FDIC should now be denied its rightful placein
thelitigation. The transaction sued on was a contract to which the bank was a party.
Plainly, then, the bank had an interest in the subject matter of the suit. Hence, since
the FDIC isthe bank’ s successor-in-interest, the FDIC’ sintervention must be judged
to relate back to the date of the original complaint’sfiling.

The FDIC's Standing To Intervene

Having concluded that the FDIC’ s intervention was timely, we turn now to
the question of whether the FDIC is legally permitted to present the bank’s claim.
Inchallengingthe FDIC’ sparticipationinthislaw suit, defendant hasfocused ontwo
primary factors. the legal capacity in which the FDIC purports to prosecute this
action (whether as the bank’s receiver or as the manager of the FSLIC Resolution
Fund)®, and the nature of the receivership deficit claim the FDIC now asserts. Upon
reflection, we are able to accept defendant’ s objections only as they pertain to the
receivership deficit, and accordingly deem that receivership deficit (afull description
of which we provide below) unrecoverable.

In analyzing the FDIC' s proper role in this litigation, we begin with Judge
Turner’ sdecisionin Plaintiffsin All Winstar-Related Casesv. United States, 44 Fed.
Cl. 3 (1999).° Asked to determine the legitimacy of the FDIC's intervention in
Winstar actionsinitiated by private plaintiffs, Judge Turner ruled that the FDIC could
intervene as amatter of right since it bore the statutory obligation to “ *take over the
assetsof . . . theinsured depository institution,” 12 U.S.C. § 1821(d)(2)(B)(i), and to
‘collect al obligations and money due the ingtitution” 12 U.S.C. 8§
1821(d)(2)(B)(ii).” 44 Fed.Cl. at 7. Based on these statutory responsibilities, Judge
Turner concluded that the “FDIC asreceiver of thefailed thriftshasaduty tojoinin
these cases (or in some manner pursue the thrifts' claims by litigation) in order to

®> The FSLIC Resolution Fund was created as part of the banking reforms
instituted by FIRREA. See 12 U.S.C. § 1821a(a)(1) (1994). The fund, which is
managed by the FDIC, is the transferee of the assets and the liabilities of the
Federal Savings and Loan Insurance Corporation (FSLIC). The FSLIC was
abolished by FIRREA.

® By consensus of the litigants involved in the Winstar-related suits
(memorialized in an Omnibus Case Management Order dated September 18, 1996),
individual judges were assigned decisional responsibility with respect to common
issues, the resolution of which was to apply to all of the pending Winstar cases.
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recover any damages owed by the government to the failed thrifts.” 1d. at 8. The
FDIC could not, however, be substituted as the sole plaintiff to the exclusion of the
shareholders, the court further held, since the shareholder-plaintiffs, suing deriva-
tively, have “a direct, vested interest in the surplus of potential recoveries and,
therefore, have standing to remain as plaintiffs in these actions notwithstanding
FDIC'’s appearance on behalf of the failed thrifts.” Id. at 11.

Defendant reads Judge Turner’ s decision as standing for the proposition that
the FDIC may intervene only wherethe agency isacting in its capacity asthereceiver
for afalled thrift. In defendant’s view, however, the FDIC appears here not as the
receiver for Western Empire, but as the manager of the FSL1C Resolution Fund. It
isthus defendant’ s belief that the FDIC, acting as the Resol ution Fund manager and
hence as an agency of the United States, cannot now bring suit against the United
States, as it amounts to an action by the government against the government. Such
intra-governmental disputes, defendant maintains, are simply non-justiciable.

Defendant’ s characterization of the FDIC as fund manager rather than as
receiver derivesfromtwo sources. Defendant arguesfirst that the FDIC is precluded
from acting asreceiver sincethereceivership estate was terminated on May 31, 1995
— adate well before the FDIC’ s motion to intervene was filed in this court — and
the claims the receiver possessed were sold to the Resolution Trust Company
(“RTC”) inits corporate capacity. In addition, defendant notes that the claim itself
was ultimately transferred to the Resolution Fund, which the FDIC, by law, is
charged with administering. 12 U.S.C. § 1821a(a)(1). Those factors, defendant
concludes, confirm that the FDIC is acting here solely in the capacity of Resolution
Fund manager — with the result, in defendant’s view, that the government is
impermissibly suing itself.

In assessing the legitimacy of defendant’s argument, we begin with a brief
chronology of the inter-agency transfers of the bank’s claim. According to a
stipulated order by the parties (the entirety of which is set forth below)’, all of the

" The parties have stipulated to the following chronology tracing the bank’s
assets and liabilities:

On February 15, 1990, the Office of Thrift Supervision (“OTS")
appointed the Resolution Trust Corporation (“RTC”) as Recelver
for Western Empire. On or about the same date, the OTS also
issued a charter for a new thrift named Western Empire Federal
Savingsand Loan (“Western Empire Federal”) for whichthe RTC
was appointed Conservator (the “thrift in conservatorship”). On
February 16, 1990, the RTC as Receiver for Western Empire
(continued...)



bank’s assets — including its breach of contract claim — were placed, after the
bank’ s dissolution, into a receivership estate managed by the RTC asreceiver. The
RTC as receiver later assigned those claims to RTC in its corporate capacity and,
within four month’s time, terminated the receivership estate. The RTC corporate
then ceased to exist pursuant to 12 U.S.C. § 1441a(m)(1) (1994) and its assets were
transferred by statute to the FSLIC Resolution Fund. 12 U.S.C. § 1441a(m)(2). The
FDIC, in turn, is now charged with the management of all clams residing in the
Resolution Fund. 12 U.S.C. § 1821a(a)(1).

Inlight of that history, we cannot accept defendant’ s assertion that either the
termination of the receivership estate or the transfer of the clam to the RTC
corporate in any way constrains the FDIC’ s legitimate participation in this lawsuit.
We are not aware of any authority that would suggest that the transfers of the claim
among the various agenciesreflected anything other than stagesin theadministrative
implementation of FIRREA — aprocessthat cannot be seen assubstantively atering
the claim itself. Indeed, in its capacity as manager of the FSLIC Resolution Fund,
the FDIC is specifically granted “all rights, powers, and duties to carry out the
Corporation’s[FDIC’ 5] dutieswith respect to the assets and liabilities of the FSLIC
Resolution Fund that the Corporation otherwise has under this chapter.” 12 U.S.C.
§ 1821a(a)(4). In other words, the FDIC has the same fiduciary duties and

’(...continued)
entered into a contract (the “Purchase and Assumption Agree-
ment”) with the thrift in conservatorship, by which substantially
all of theassets of Western Empire, including thisand other claims
owned by Western Empire, were transferred to Western Empire
Federal.

Thethriftin conservatorship operated until August 31, 1990, when
the OTS appointed the RTC as Recelver for Western Empire
Federal.

On February 1, 1995 the RTC as Receiver for Western Empire
Federal assigned to the RTC in its corporate capacity this clam
and other assets remaining in the receivership (the “ Assignment
and Assumption Agreement”), and the receivership was termi-
nated on May 31, 1995.

On December 31, 1995, the RTC itself ceased to exist, pursuant to
12 U.S.C. § 1441a(m)(1). Pursuant to 12 U.S.C. § 1441a(m)(2),
all assets and liabilities held by the RTC in its corporate capacity
asof December 31, 1995 weretransferredto the FSLIC Resolution
Fund.
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obligations with respect to the FSLIC Resolution Fund asiit has as areceiver for an
insured depository institution. Thus, the short answer to defendant’ sargument isthat
the FDIC is a participant in this lawsuit because it holds the bank’s claim and is
charged by law with pursuing it.

Defendant argues against this conclusion. It points out that the FDIC, when
acting in its capacity as manager of the FSLIC Resolution Fund, is an agency of the
United States; hence, to allow the FDIC, in that same capacity, to pursue the bank’s
breach of contract claim against the United Statesisto present the court with anon-
justiciable intra-governmental dispute.

As proof that the government is essentially represented on both sides of the
litigation and that any recovery would amount to a transfer merely from one
government account to another, defendant points to the statutory scheme for the
payment and receipt of Winstar-related sums. According to defendant, the FSLIC
Resolution Fund is charged by statute with reimbursing the government for all
expenses incurred in defending the Winstar litigation. See Pub. L. No. 105-61, 8§
632, 111 Stat. 1272, 1315 (1997); Pub. L. No. 104-208, § 638, 110 Stat. 3009-364
(1996). Additionally, the fund must provide all the monies paid out as judgments or
settlements in any of the Winstar suits. 12 U.S.C. § 1821a(d). Any shortfal in the
fund’'s accounts, or any ultimate surplus, is to be made up by, or returned to, the
United States Treasury. 12 U.S.C. § 1821a(c)(1), (f). Finaly, defendant maintains
that any recovery awarded by this court will be paid to the Resolution Fund, thus
essentially positioning the fund on both sides of the litigation.®

What that tracing of fundsignores, however, is the nature of the underlying
dispute. TheFDIC’ sstatusasan agency of the United Stateswhen acting as manager
of the FSLIC Resolution Fund is of no legal consequence here. Indeed, the FDIC
holds that status even when it is acting in its capacity as a receiver for a failed
depositoryinstitution. 12 U.S.C. §1819(b)(1) (1994) (“The[FDIC], inany capacity,

8 It is unclear from the post-trial briefing whether defendant believes that
an intra-governmental dispute arises only in connection with the FDIC’s pursuit of
the receivership deficit claim — i.e., the claim for those funds that the RTC paid
to the bank’s depositors and which the FDIC now seeks to recover as subrogated
creditor — or whether it extends that argument to the breach of contract claim in
its entirety. In either event, we conclude that it is only the FDIC’s pursuit of the
receivership deficit claim that may legitimately be characterized as a non-justiciable
intra-governmental dispute.
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shall be an agency of the United States for purposes of section 1345 of Title 28....")°
Rather, what makes a lawsuit a non-justiciable intra-governmental disputeis not a
seeming identity between the parties, but the absence of those genuinely distinct
adversarial interests between litigants that are the traditional earmarks of a case or
controversy. United Statesv. 1.C.C., 337 U.S. 426, 430-431 (1949) (“[C]ourts must
look behind namesthat symbolize the partiesto determine whether ajusticiable case
or controversy is presented.”); Navegar v. United States, 103 F.3d 994, 998 (D.C.
Cir. 1997) (“[F]edera courtsact only when the disputes brought beforetheminvolve
sharply defined issues pressed by truly adversary parties with agenuine stake in the
outcome.”). Clearly, the bank’ s breach of contract claim against the United States—
seeking as it does the expectancy damages allegedly owed to the bank, and through
the bank to its shareholders — meets these requirements.

Indeed, any other view would mean that the RTC as receiver essentially
extinguished the bank’s breach of contract claim when it transferred it to RTC
corporate, since, under defendant’s reasoning, the clam could no longer be
vindicated by an agency of the United States. Neither the assignment agreement
effecting the transfer of the clam nor the legisation governing the clam's
disposition supports such aresult. Andwefind that scenario particularly difficult to
accept given that the FDIC is specifically charged with administering the claimsin
the FSLIC Resolution Fund. We are thus bound to conclude that the FDIC may
indeed prosecute the bank’ s breach of contract claim.

i. The Receivership Deficit

The rationale that allows the FDIC to seek recovery for the bank’s contract
claim, however, does not extend to the amount referred to asthe receivership deficit.
The receivership deficit claim, briefly described, identifies the amount by which
Western Empire’ sliabilities (primarily the money owed to its depositors) exceeded
the value received for its assets upon the bank’ s liquidation. That claim, defendant
contends, suffers from the same infirmity defendant alleged of the breach claim: it
represents an impermissible suit by the government against the government. Here,
we believe, defendant is correct.

The $55.5 million identified as the receivership deficit comprises, in part,
$26.5 million paid to the bank’ s depositors by the RTC, $24.2 millionin interest on
that amount, and approximately $1.8 million in administrative expenses (including

° The referenced statute, section 1345 of Title 28, grants the district courts
original jurisdiction over “all civil actions, suits or proceedings commenced by the
United States, or by any agency or officer thereof expressly authorized to sue by
Act of Congress.”
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the FDIC’ s present litigation costs) in winding up Western Empire’ s accounts. The
FDIC claims this deficit as a loss suffered by the bank. Defendant, in contrast,
characterizes that deficiency as made up of the bank’ s pre-existing liabilities—i.e.
debts in the form of money owed to creditors or depositors — that cannot now be
transformed, through adamages award to the bank, into assets of the bank. Further,
the fact that the insurance fund paid off the depositors (and in doing so became
subrogated to their claims against the bank) means, in defendant’s view, that the
receivership deficit claim never belonged to the bank at all, but rather to the RTC as
subrogee and then, by subsequent transfer, to the FSLIC Resolution Fund.® Finally,
defendant notes, prosecution of the claim by the FDIC acting in its capacity as
transferee of the RTC'’ srightsas subrogee amountsto aclaim against the government
for money owed the government.

Defendant is of course correct that the liabilities owed to depositors were
debts the bank itself had incurred prior to the breach. Plaintiffs are equally correct,
however, that the forced sal e of assets during adepression in both the real -estate and
high-yield bond markets (as well as the fire-sale atmosphere created by the
simultaneousclosing of thriftsinthewake of FIRREA) likely resulted in asignificant
decrease in the value received for those assets. Yet, the various components of the
receivership deficit — the payment to the depositors, theinterest on that amount, and
the subsequent expenses incurred in resolving the receivership estate — are
ultimately claims against the bank, not claims belonging to the bank. We explain
further.

Because the sale of the bank’s assets upon dissolution was insufficient to
meet the depositors’ demands, the RTC, acting inits corporate capacity, paid off the
outstanding deposits, and in doing so succeeded to therightsof the bank’ sdepositors
against the estate of the failed bank. The RTC corporate, in other words, became
subrogated to the claims of theinsured depositors. At the same time those payments
were made, the RTC receiver entered into an assignment and assumption agreement
that transferred to RTC corporate all of the assets and liabilities remaining in the
receivership. Thus, by virtue of its ownership of the bank’s assets, and its status as
subrogee of the depositors’ claim against the bank, RTC corporate became both an
owner of and a creditor against the same institutional assets. It was in this same
joined status that these ultimately competing assets were passed on to the FSLIC
Resolution Fund.

9 The RTC, having paid the bank’s depositors, became subrogated to the
depositors’ claims against the bank. The RTC'sinterests, including its interests as
subrogee, were subsequently transferred to the FSLIC Resolution Fund (the fund
managed by the FDIC). 12 U.S.C. § 1441a(m)(2).
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Thereceivership deficit now being claimed thus representsthel oss absorbed
by theinsurer of the bank’ sdepositors; not by the bank. Consequently, any recovery
on the claim by the bank would, in fact, have to be paid over to the bank’s creditor
— in this case, the FSLIC Resolution Fund (the successor to the subrogee, RTC
corporate). Put in practical terms, the FDIC is thus asserting a claim — the
receivership deficit— that first will transfer money from the FSLIC Resol ution Fund
to the bank and then from the bank back to the Fund. FDIC, in effect, issuing itself.
Such an action amountsto anon-justiciableintra-governmental disputeand, assuch,
may not go forward here.

Shareholder-Plaintiffs’ Right to Seek Lost Profits

Inadditionto takingissuewiththe FDIC' srolein thislawsuit, defendant also
challenges the right of the shareholder-plaintiffs to pursue a claim for expectation
damages, i.e., lost profits. Any expectation damages, defendant contends, belong not
to theinvestors, but to the bank. And since the FDIC now purports to represent the
bank’ s interests, defendant argues that the lost profits claim may be asserted by it
alone. We are thus asked to rule that plaintiffs are precluded, as a matter of law,
from pressing here their demand for lost profits. The FDIC joinsin this request.

Plaintiffs do not dispute that the FDIC alone may pursue the bank’s claim.
In plaintiffs' view, however, the claim for expectation damages they are seeking is
not the bank’ sclaim, but rather their own. Plaintiffs contend that they have contract
rights, independent of those held by the bank, for the breach of which they are now
seeking recovery.

Plaintiffs trace the origin of theserightsto two sources. First, they point out
that both John K. Castleand L eonard M. Harlan were partiesto the regul atory capital
mai ntenance agreement (the basi c contract document), wheretheir signatures appear
along with those of the representatives of the bank and the FSLIC. (The contract
collectively identifies Messrs. Castle and Harlan as the “Acquirors.”) Second,
plaintiffsrefer usto the earlier decision in this case (the decision on liability entered
on February 2, 1999) in which Chief Judge Smith ruled that the “investor plaintiffs
... arethird party beneficiaries of the contract.” 42 Fed. Cl. at 866. Based on these
two sources, then, the shareholder-plaintiffs assert that they possess contract rights
that parallel the bank’s own. To be more specific, plaintiffs contend that they are
entitled to recover any lost profits the court might award, while the bank, they say,
would be entitled to any recovery allowed with respect to the receivership deficit
clam.

We do not agree with this position. Accepting, for the sake of argument, that
plaintiffs in fact have an enforceable interest in the contract performance, we
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neverthelessfail to see how their status asthird-party beneficiaries (or assignatories
to the contract) can give them more than a right to sue here for the benefit of the
bank. The contract performance that was promised was the granting of special
regulatory forbearances which the government agreed to extend to the bank. And
whileplaintiffscould, of course, expect to benefit from that performanceasthevalue
of the bank grew, they held no rights to that performance for themselves. It wasto
the bank that the promised performance was to be rendered, not to the plaintiffs.
Therefore, while plaintiffs contract status would grant them a right to sue in the
event of breach, they cannot claim more than they had in the first instance: aright to
a benefit that can only come to them through the bank. Plaintiffs cannot lay clam
to morethan this, for the government promised nothing more. Thelost profitsclaim
belongs to the bank.

PART I

We turn now to the substantive portion of the case — plaintiffs’ claim for
damages. Under traditional damages theory, an injured party has available to it
several measures of recovery: its expectation interest, its reliance interest and its
restitution interest. An injured party may thus seek to recover the value of the
bargain — as measured by the economic position it would have attained had
performance been rendered (referred to asthe“ expectationinterest”); theinvestment
theinjured party has made in performance — as measured by the economic position
it would have been in had the contract not been made (referred to as the “reliance
interest”); or the value of the benefit conferred on the breaching party (referred to as
the “redtitution interest”). Restatement (Second) of Contracts § 344 (1979).

Expectation Interest

Theprincipal claim put forward here, and the primary focusat trial, isaclaim
for lost profits — the profits the bank would have earned had its operations not been
halted by FIRREA. The problem presented is one of reconstructing events as they
might have been.

To accomplish this task, plaintiffs engaged the services of a number of
experts, two of whom in particular — Dr. Donald Kaplan and Dr. Robert Losey —
provided much of the testimony that is central to thiscase. Dr. Kaplan, who testified
on behalf of the shareholder-plaintiffs, is aformer Chief Economist of the Federa
Home Loan Bank Board and has twenty-five years experience as an economist
analyzing the thrift industry. Dr. Losey, the FDIC's expert, is a former financial
economist with the Federal Home Loan Bank Board and the Federal Savings and
Loan Insurance Corporation, and currently serves as an associate professor and
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chairman of the Department of Finance and Real Estate at American University in
Washington, D.C.

Starting with the core assumption that the bank would continue to pursue the
basiclines of business set out in the business plan—investmentsin high-yield bonds,
mortgage-backed securities, and residential mortgages — each expert developed a
sophisticated, computer-based model showing the expected growth, over aperiod of
years, in the bank’ s revenues, costs, and profits, using numbers drawn from market
data. Although the methodology and structure of their respective modelswere much
the same, the results derived from the models were not. Differences in input
assumptions led to differences in predicted outcomes: Dr. Kaplan concluded, for
instance, that over the ten-year period extending from January 1, 1989 through
December 31, 1998, the bank would have redlized post-tax earnings of $73.9
million.™ Dr. Losey, by contrast, determined that, over the sasmeten-year period, the
bank’s post-tax earnings would have come to $36.3 million.

Defendant challengesthe validity of both models saying that neither satisfies
the requirements necessary to support an award of lost profits. Those reguirements,
set forth most notably in the Court of Claims decision in Chain Belt Co. v. United
States, 115 F. Supp. 701, 714 (Ct. Cl. 1953), are three: First, that the claimed loss
be“theimmediateand proximateresult of the breach” ; second, that thelossbewithin
the contemplation of the parties either because it was “natural and inevitable upon
the breach” or because it arose from “special circumstances . . . known to the
defaulting party at the time the contract was entered into”; and third, that there exist
“asufficient basisfor estimating theamount of profitslost with reasonablecertainty.”

In defendant’ s view, the experts model sincorporate assumptionsthat either
ignore or are inconsistent with these substantive requirements — causation,
foreseeability, and reasonable certainty. Whileweconcludeultimately that plaintiffs
modelsfail only thethird of those el ements— the requirement of reasonabl e certainty
—the importance of thefirst two issues warrants our full discussion of them aswell.

i. Causation

1 In addition to the $73.9 million he identified as lost profits, Dr. Kaplan's
calcul ation of expectancy damagesincluded $52.9 millionfor thereceivership deficit
and another $15.2 million which heidentified asafranchise premium, i.e., the dollar
amount, in excess of book value, for which the bank could be sold to outside
investors.
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Initseffortsto provethat FIRREA was not the proximate cause of plaintiffs
damages, defendant rai ses essentially two arguments, one grounded in law, the other
infact. With respect tolegal causation, defendant maintainsthat the proximate cause
standard is satisfied only where there exists a nexus between the breach and any
subsequent damage such that there exists “no intervening incident . . . to complicate
or confuse the certainty of the result between the cause and the damage.” Myerlev.
United States, 33 Ct. Cl. 1, 27 (1897). Again quoting Myerle, defendant elaborates
on the point by emphasizing that “the cause must produce the effect inevitably and
naturally, not possibly nor even probably. . . . There must not be two steps between
cause and damage.” 1d.

These constraints, defendant asserts, have not been observed here. Rather,
defendant notes that the starting point in each of the experts modelsis an assumed
capital infusion (by the original investors) of approximately $10 million — an
augmentation of capital made necessary by lossesexperienced during thefirst twelve
months of operation.”? In defendant’s view, the introduction of this factor into the
experts models introduces “two steps between cause and damage’; hence, the
claimed damages cannot be said to result “inevitably and naturally” from the
enactment of FIRREA. Instead, defendant describes these as damages from a
“collateral undertaking” —aterm used by the courts to describe damages for profits
lost on transactions not directly related to the contract that was breached. See, e.q.,
Wells Fargo Bank v. United States, 88 F.3d 1012, 1022-23 (Fed. Cir. 1996)(citing
Ramsey v. United States, 101 F. Supp. 353 (Ct. Cl. 1951), cert. denied 343 U.S. 977
(1952)) (ruling that the government’ sliability for breach of aloan guarantee contract
could not include profits the bank might have earned from additional loans it would
have been able to make had its lending capacity not been diminished by the
government’ s failure to honor the guarantee).

We cannot accept defendant’s argument. The statement in Myerle that
defendant emphasizesin its brief —the prohibition on “two steps between cause and
damage” — means only that, in the proof of damages, a party may not rely on

21n hismodel, Dr. Kaplan assumes a$10 million capital infusion in January
1990 in order to bring the bank into compliance with its 2% tangible capital
reguirement and thereby avoid seizure. Of that amount, Dr. Kaplantestified that $4.7
million would have been necessary immediately (i.e., in January 1990) to ensure
capital compliance, with the balance reserved to cover losses the bank would suffer
in 1991. Dr. Losey, by contrast, assumed two infusions rather than one, each timed
to cover a capital shortfall, and hence maintain capital compliance. Dr. Losey’s
model thus assumes a $5 million infusion in the first quarter of 1990 (which, asin
Dr. Kaplan’smodel, isintended to remedy acapital shortfall that istraceable, in part,
to asset write-downs and bond defaults) and a $4.7 million infusion in the first
guarter of 1991 (again to remedy a capital deficiency caused by bond defaults).
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transactions or occurrences that do not flow directly from the contract itself. Put
differently, Myerle's requirement of a direct link between breach and injury is
satisfied where subsequent events — including a capital infusion — can be seen as
steps reasonably to be taken in pursuit of the business structure, methods and goals
as set forth in the contract. The collateral undertakings envisioned by Myerle and
WEells Fargo are those which fall outside of the scope of the original contract;
proximate causation isthus compromised only where an extra-contractual transaction
isinterposed between the breach and any subsequent damage.

The issue, then, is one of constructing the course of events that might have
evolvedtofulfill thecontract’ s purposeand comply withitsterms. To the extent that
acapital infusion represented the natural progression of the contract’ sfulfillment, it
can be seen neither asacollateral transaction nor asan additional, impermissiblestep
in the chain of causation. The question we ask, therefore, is whether the assumed
infusion of an additional $10 million dollars by the bank’s investors describes an
event whose occurrence logically could be contemplated in light of the business
structure described in the contract documents.

In answering that question in the affirmative, we look first to the bank as it
was initially envisioned and second to the bank as it actually evolved. Under the
business plan, Western Empirewas originally to befunded with a$25 million capital
base — to be divided equally between equity and subordinated debt. Although the
bank in reality began operations with less than this amount ($15.1 million was the
initial capitalization, of which $2.6 million represented subordinated debt), therecord
makes clear that both the organizers of the enterprise (John Castle and Leonard
Harlan) and the government regul atorsunderstood that the bank wasaventurewhose
capital needs might exceed thisinitial contribution. And just as the business plan
anticipated the raising of additional funds in principle, Western Empire set out to
raise those funds in practice by hiring an expert to place additional subordinated
debt.™® Given this evidence, we think it fair to say that the funding assumptions
contained in the modelsis descriptive of acourseof action that isconsistent with the
intentionsembodied inthe contract. Itisappropriate, therefore, to concludethat that
funding assumption is not an improper link in the chain of events identifying
FIRREA as the proximate cause of plaintiffs damages.

B3 Theeffort to raise additional capital through asupplementary subordinated
debt offering was abandoned in mid-1989, after only a brief effort, because of a
combination of factors that rendered the high-yield bond market temporarily
unattractive. These factors included the market’'s preoccupation with a then-
occurring multi-billion dollar leveraged buyout as well as emerging concerns about
the prospects of adverse banking legislation — areference to what later was enacted
as FIRREA.
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We turn then to defendant’ s second argument against causation. Defendant
contendsthat, evenif themodels funding assumptionsdo not preclude usasamatter
of law from considering FIRREA as the proximate cause of plaintiffs damages,
nevertheless, as a matter of fact, we would be obliged to come to that conclusion.
Specifically, defendant maintains that, as of January 1990 (the date the models
begin), the bank was a “shop operating at the margin” — an institution in such
financial turmoil asto render additional investment in it inconceivable and to cause
regulatory authorities to initiate supervisory actions against it. FIRREA, in other
words, would have had no effect onthe bank becauseits closurewould have occurred
even in the absence of a breach.

Two assumptions lie at the heart of defendant’ s factual causation argument.
First, defendant contends that the capital infusion envisioned by Dr. Kaplan and Dr.
Losey’ smodelswould not have been forthcoming — thereby resultinginthebank’s
seizurefor capital non-compliance. Second, defendant arguesthat, evenintheevent
of acapital infusion, the bank’ s questionable business practiceswould haveled toits
demise (in part because safety and soundness concerns would have forced its
seizure). We discuss those argumentsin turn.

In defendant’ s estimation, the fact that Western Empire would have required
acapital infusion merely to survive— theresult of ashortfal concededly unrelated
to FIRREA — is prima facie evidence that the bank would not have remained in
operation even in the absence of the breach. Defendant correctly states — and
plaintiffsconcede— that without acapital infusionin January 1990, Western Empire
would have fallen out of capital compliance and been subject to seizure. Dr. Kaplan
remedies this problem by assuming a $10 million, investor-provided capital
contribution in the first quarter of 1990; Dr. Losey addresses it with a $5 million
infusion during the same period. Defendant, with afew minor exceptions discussed
below, does not dispute that the proposed infusion would have returned Western
Empire to capital compliance. Rather, it argues that, in reality, Western Empire
would not have been able to raise the funds on which the models rely. A key
component of plaintiffs damages models, then, turns on the court’ s willingness to
accept the premise that plaintiffs would have invested an additional $10 million to
keep Western Empire afloat.

Defendant challenges that assumption on the grounds that, given the bank’s
failureto achieveits stated performance goals, and in light of aless-than-hospitable
regulatory climate, an additional infusion made no business sense. Defendant
additionally maintains that the entire exercise of assuming an infusion is tainted by
hindsight, since the investors could not contemporaneously have known the amount
of capital that would ultimately have been necessary to avoid seizure. Finally,
defendant contendsthat, despitetheinvestors’ testimony that they would have made
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asecond capital infusion, no evidence exists to support the assertion that they would
in fact have invested additional sums.

Defendant’s arguments, though well-taken, are ultimately unpersuasive.
While there would obviously have been a point at which the investors would have
abandoned thisbusinessasunprofitable, several factorslead usto the conclusion that
that point had not yet been reached. Fifteen of the origina investors testified
convincingly that they were both willing, and in a position, to pledge the funds
required. The majority of those investors had longstanding relationships with John
Castle — the driving force behind Western Empire’s acquisition — and many
testified that his endorsement alone was sufficient recommendation to warrant an
additional investment. Not insignificantly, John Castle himself isaman who, by all
accounts, stands by his investments, even in those instances where the bottom line
alone can not justify his continued involvement. Mr. Castle testified convincingly
that he had intended to see hisinvestment in Western Empire through, a statement
bolstered not only by his personal history, but by his discussions with the investors
in the wake of FIRREA. We have no reason to question either that Mr. Castlewould
have sought the $10 million capital infusion required or that theinvestorswould have
contributed the amount he requested.

Nor is it lost on the court that the takeover and turn-around of weak or
undercapitalized businesses was Castle Harlan's specialty. Indeed it would be
difficult toimagine, evenin light of thefact that the resultsfrom the bank’ sfirst year
of operations were |ess favorable than projected, that an organization devoted to the
turn-around of underperforming businesses would, in less than a year's time,
essentially abandon itsundertaking. Thelossesto which defendant pointsasevidence
of the bank’ s demise — an alleged year-end operating loss for 1989 of $7.1 million
rather than the reported $1.9 million — are questionable both in their accounting
legitimacy and in their relevance to the bank’ sfinancial prognosis.* But even were

4 Of the $5.2 million in losses defendant believes should have been reported
in the 1989 year-end financial statements, $2.5 million represents an additional set-
aside of general valuation allowances (GVAs), $1.1 million represents the loss on
a defaulting bond, and $1.6 million represents the 50% write-down of a bad real
estate loan. Without going into those subjects at length, we note only that
defendant’s adjustments to the bank’s balance sheet and income statements, even
if accepted, do little to change the financial complexion of the institution. In the
case of the bond, the dispute is merely one of timing: whether, as an accounting
matter, Western Empire should have recognized the loss in December, before the
bond’s actual default, rather than in January as plaintiffs’ models assume. We are
at a loss to see how either alternative significantly changes Western Empire’s
financial prognosis. Similarly, increases in GVAs, while carried on the books as

(continued...)
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weto accept defendant’ snumbers, the losses more reflect the resol ution of problems
inherited from the old bank than any indictment of the strategies pursued by the bank
inits new form.

Indeed, at the heart of our conviction that an infusion would have been
forthcoming is that the fundamentals of the original business plan had not changed.
The strategy of using federally insured deposits as alow-cost source of fundsto buy
high-yield bonds and capitalize on the spread was no less appealing in 1990 than it
had been at the time of the original investment. Many of theinvestorsin fact testified
that, despitethe declineinthe bond market in the early 1990s, their original approach
was unaffected by the market changes. The fact that bond prices were depressed
during that period, only made the investment more attractive in the investors' view.

And while it may indeed have been difficult for John Castle to have made
repeated phone calls to investors as each new capital shortfall became apparent, we
are confident that through a combination of debt placement and strategic equity
raising (requesting a greater amount than necessary at a single time rather than
several smaller contributions, for instance), Western Empire could have presented a
financing plan that would indeed have been attractive to investors.

Ultimately, then, we believe that a capital infusion provided by the original
investors represents the best and likeliest solution to the shortfall Western Empire
faced. Accordingly, we have no difficulty accepting it as akey factor in plaintiffs
models.

Yet, evenif many of Western Empire’ simmediate problemswould have been
remedied with a capital infusion, defendant nonetheless maintains that the bank’s
risky or failed business practices would still have ensured its demise. Under this
theory, FIRREA was not the actual cause of Western Empire’ sfailure because safety
and soundness concerns would have forced the regulators to seize the bank evenin
light of acapital infusion. 1n support of thisassertion, defendant notesthat initsfirst
twelve months of operation, the bank, instead of operating profitably as had been
anticipated, actually lost money, as residential mortgage loan originations fell far
short of projections and more than half of the properties acquired through loan

Y(...continued)

a “loss for accounting purposes, are merely set-asides of funds in the event of
future defaults, and do not, by contract, get subtracted from capital in calculating
capital compliance. Finally, the incomplete write-down of the Queen’s Bay real
estate loan was a matter of much dispute, but, given the efforts of management to
work-down the bad real estate inherited from *“old”” Western Empire, would hardly
have come as a surprise to investors or, we believe, affected their decision to
reinvest.
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defaults remained unsold. In addition, defendant points out, the bank had begun to
face liquidity concerns as it was forced to fund its high-yield bond portfolio chiefly
with short-term brokered deposits (depositsthat, characteristically, aremorevolatile),
rather than through a planned collateralized bond undertaking and longer-term
certificates of deposit.

In addition to these operational concerns, defendant contends that the bank
did not adhere to proper accounting procedures. In defendant’s view, the bank
overvalued assets, underfunded required reserve accounts, and incorrectly amortized
goodwill. According to defendant, the net result of these departures from accepted
accounting standardswas an institution whoseincome, aswell asitscapital, had been
grossly overstated. Moreover, because of this overstatement of capital —which, in
effect, amounted to an overstatement in growth capacity —the bank was correspond-
ingly ableto increase its holdings of high-yield bondsto alevel that, had the capital
been correctly calculated, would not have been permitted. In short, defendant
portrays the bank as an institution short on capital and long on risk. Defendant
argues, therefore, that in the heightened oversight of banking institutions that
characterized the post-FIRREA world, safety and soundnessconcernswould haveled
regulatory authorities to seize the bank and close-down operations.

The various concerns defendant has raised here are both serious and, for the
most part, factually correct. We do not believe, however, that those concerns lead
to the conclusion that regulators would have forced the bank to closeit doors. Asan
initial matter, the shortfall in performance results that defendant has cited does not,
of itself, present safety or soundness concerns. At most, those results bear witnessto
abusinessenvironment that presented challengesto Messrs. Castle and Harlan more
demanding than their business plan had envisioned.

By no means could the bank’s one year of operation under plaintiffs
stewardship be used as a gauge against which to assess the safety and soundness of
theinstitution. Thiswas, after all, a“turn-around” situationinwhich anew business
format (the linkage of traditional mortgage lending with investments in high-yield
bonds and mortgage-backed securities) was being used to rescue a financia
institution whose past mistakes (over-reliance on commercial real-estate loans that
subsequently defaulted) presented aformidable drag on the “ new” bank’s earnings.
Given the magnitude of the portfolio “work-down” confronting the bank at the start
(disposing of roughly $11 million dollarsworth of bank-owned real estatearising out
of loan defaults), it is hardly surprising that the progress towards profits was slow.

As to the accounting issues that defendant raises, it is difficult to see how
those issues could retain any validity, i.e., present safety and soundness concerns,
given acapita infusion of $10 million. An infusion of that amount would be more
than sufficient to restore the bank to a position of capital adequacy. And that would
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be true even if the asset valuations that defendant challenges were resolved largely
initsfavor.®® Thus, while safety and soundness issues could perhaps arise again in
the later years of the bank’s operation, it certainly cannot be said that such issues
would have supported a seizure of the bank in early 1990.

Wethusfind no reason, grounded either inlaw or in fact, to conclude that the

bank’s damages resulted from anything other than the government’s breach.
Accordingly, wefind that plaintiffs’ burden in establishing causation has been met.

ii. Foreseeability

We turn then to the second component of plaintiffs proof of damages: the
requirement of foreseeability. Under that doctrine, a plaintiff is entitled to recover
only those damages that the party in breach had reason to foresee as the probable
result of a breach at the time the contract was entered into. Restatement 8§ 351(1).
Plaintiffs, defendant maintains, have failed to satisfy this burden.

In defendant’s view, the lost profits that plaintiffs are claiming were not
foreseeable because “the purpose of the alleged contract was to recapitalize [the
bank] toreturnit to asafeand sound condition.” Inthat context, defendant notesthat
“[p]rojected profits were significant only to the extent they may impact on [the
bank’ 5] safety and soundness.” Profits, defendant argues, “were neither assured
under thealleged contract” nor reflective of “the shared understanding of the parties.”

Defendant’s position, however, misinterprets the applicable law. The
requirement of foreseeability may be satisfied either by showing that theloss claimed
follows from the breach “in the ordinary course of events’ or “as aresult of special
circumstances, beyond the ordinary course of events, that the party in breach had

> Of the several asset valuations that defendant has challenged, two, in
particular were the subject of much debate during the trial — the $2.49 million
valuationthebank assigned toits“ Furniture, Fixtures and Equipment” and the $5.45
million dollar valuation it assigned to its “Building Premises.” Based on extensive
testimony regarding the correct valuation for these assets, both from accounting and
appraisal experts, the court has concluded that the bank overvalued its furniture,
fixture and equipment by $1 million dollarsand its building premises by $.5 million.
Reflecting these restated values on the bank’ s books of account would, inter alia,
reduce its tangible assets (i.e., capital) by $1.5 million — a reduction that would, in
turn, be remedied by an augmentation of capital derived from the capital infusion.
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reason to know” when he made the contract. Restatement 8§ 351(2). Virtually al of
the evidence presented at trial confirms that the government should have known —
and infact did know — about the profit expectationsthat led plaintiffsto agreeto the
contract. Indeed, the government cannot credibly maintain that the potential for
profit, without which plaintiffs would have had no incentive to complete the deal,
was not within its contemplation. The record makes clear that plaintiffs were
forthright in communicating their profit expectations, and the regulators clearly
understood the character of plaintiffs undertaking, afact evident from the various
risk limitations they included in the contract (the asset percentage limitations on
high-yield bonds, the risk-weighted capital requirementsfor different asset classes,
and the two-percent tangible capital requirement). The effort to manage risk inthis
specific manner permits only one conclusion: the regulators understood plaintiffs
goals and recognized the unique risk characteristics of the investments plaintiffs
intended to pursue.

Nor isit sufficient to argue, as defendant doesin its post-trial briefs, that the
object of the contract, fromtheregulators’ standpoint, wasmerely to restore the bank
to safety and soundness without regard to profits. That objective necessarily
contemplates the restoration of the bank to alevel of profitability. Thetwo go hand-
in-hand. Had either party anticipated failure, the transaction would have served
neither’ s needs.

It would follow, therefore, that in being deprived of the opportunity to
proceed with the contract, plaintiffs were deprived of any profits that reasonably
might be associated with such an undertaking. Those arethe profitswhich plaintiffs
seek here. Those too are the profits which defendant understood were the object of
the bargain from plaintiffs’ standpoint. Foreseeability has thus been established.

iii. Reasonable Certainty

We come then to the third and final element in the proof of lost profits: the
requirement of reasonabl ecertainty. Eventhose damagesthat are proximately caused
by a breach and are the foreseeable result of it remain unrecoverable if they are, in
the words of the Restatement, “beyond an amount that the evidence permits to be
established with reasonable certainty.” Restatement § 352. Courts have interpreted
that requirement ascalling for reasonabl e certainty with regard to thefact of damages
rather than the amount, and have accordingly imposed a lesser standard of proof in
the calculation of damages whose existence has been sufficiently established. See
Story Parchment Co. v. Paterson Parchment Paper Co., 282 U.S. 555, 562 (1931).

24



In Chain Belt, 115 F. Supp. at 714, the Court of Claims adopted that
principle, notingthat “if thefact of damage. . . iscertain, uncertainty asto the precise
amount lost isnot necessarily fatal to recovery.” See also Petrovich v. United States,
421 F.2d 1364, 1367 (Ct. Cl. 1970); Neely v. United States, 285 F.2d 438, 443 (Ct.
Cl. 1961). We thus begin our assessment of plaintiffs proof with an inquiry into
whether plaintiffs have established the existence of damages with reasonable
certainty.

We note, as an initial matter, that the claim for lost profitsis, at bottom, a
prediction about the success the bank could have expected to achieve had it been
permitted to proceed with performance under its contract. In order for such aclaim
to satisfy the reasonable certainty standard, the proof relied upon must be rooted in
fact. Thecourt, in other words, must be ableto look either to the actual performance
of the bank or to the experiences of the industry of which it is a part, to ensure that
the profits being claimed are consistent with the projected extension of the bank’s
economic activity. A claim whose basic structural components lack such factual
foundation is simply speculation.

Thelost profitsmodelsthat plaintiffs’ experts presented to the court offer an
in-depth picture of how the bank was expected to conduct its affairs over the period
of the 1990s. Each of the models presents its data in the form of yearly balance
sheets and income statements together with all subordinate accounts. The
information given is extensive. Taken at their most elemental level, however, the
models portray a business venture whose overall profitability depended on three
fundamental factors: the way it funded its assets, the return it received on those
assets, and its success in reducing or eliminating its embedded costs.

Astothefirst of thesethree structural factors—thebank’ santicipated funding
sources —we have little reason to question the reasonableness of the assumptions
contained inthemodels. Both expertsassumed that the bank would draw itslendable
funds from essentially three sources: retail deposits (i.e., passbook accounts and
short-term certificates of deposit); brokered deposits (i.e., short-term deposits
traceabl eto funds maintainedin brokerage accounts); and non-depository borrowings
(i.e., borrowings from the Federa Home Loan Bank in San Francisco (Dr. Kaplan's
assumption) or short-term collateralized borrowingsknown moregeneraly asreverse
repurchase agreements (Dr. Losey’ s assumption)).

Our endorsement of these funding sources as transactions reasonably likely
to have occurred (had the bank been permitted to proceed with its contract in the
post-FIRREA world) isgroundedinthefact that these borrowing sourcescorrespond,
inthe main, to the manner of operation that characterized the bank’ sactivitiesduring
the twelve months of its actual existence.
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TheexceptionisDr. Kaplan' spartial reliance on borrowingsfrom the Federal
Home Loan Bank in San Francisco. 1n mid-1989, the bank had attempted to gain
accessto aline of credit at the Federa Home Loan Bank, but was rebuffed in this
effort because of anumber of deficiencies, including aweak earnings performance,
a high level of problem assets, a low level of capital, and an unproven operating
strategy. Dr. Kaplan'sassumption wasthat with the reduction in the bank’ s problem
assets that had occurred over the remainder of 1989, and with the significant
enhancement in the bank’s capital structure that would result from the model’s
assumed infusion of $10 million, the bank would be able to establish its credit-
worthinesswith the Federal Home L oan Bank. We think this assumption has behind
it sufficient factual substance to warrant its acceptance here as an event that would
bereasonably certainto have occurred. 1nsum, then, the court acceptsthelegitimacy
of the funding assumptions depicted in the experts models.

The second structural component of the experts models that meets the test
of reasonable certainty is the rate of return that the models assign to the bank’s
principal earning assets — the high-yield bonds, mortgage-backed securities, and
residential mortgages. In each of these areas of investment, the rates of return the
models adopt are the actual rates of return that were realized in the marketplace
(during the years depicted in the models) on assets of the samekind and character as
those held by the bank.™ In constructing a hypothetical bond portfolio, for example,

¢ During the pretrial phase of this lawsuit, defendant took issue with
plaintiffs intended reliance on post-breach data to establish the rates of return the
bank would have received on its earning assets in the post-FIRREA world.
Defendant contended that the use of post-breach evidence to fix the amount of
damages was legally impermissible. Therulein this circuit, defendant maintained,
requires damages to be determined as of the time of breach.

The court rgjected this argument. Defendant was correct, we concluded, in
saying that damages are to be determined as of the date of breach. See, eq.,
Reynolds v. United States, 158 F. Supp. 719, 725 (Ct. Cl. 1958). In the application
of this rule, however, courts can — and indeed, should — consider post-breach
evidenceif, by doing so, they can more accurately measure the value of the contract
expectancy in place at the timethe breach occurred. In other words, damages should
reflect what would have been gained (or lost) had performance been alowed to
proceed. The Restatement’ sillustrations confirm thispoint. See, e.q., Restatement
8 352 cmt. b, illus. 6, 8 344 cmt. b, illus. 5. The aim is to compensate an injured
party for the loss actually sustained, i.e., to “put him in as good a position as he
would have been in had the contract been performed,” to the extent it is possible to
doso. Id. 8347 cmt. a. Unquestionably, prior decisionsin this court have looked to
post-breach evidencewhen consideringlost profitsclaims. See, e.q., Chain Belt, 115

(continued...)
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the experts incorporated the actual purchases that Western Empire’s former
investment manager made for a fund whose stated investment strategy and whose
previous bond purchases closely matched Western Empire's. That approach, we
concluded, evidenced the highest degree of reliability.

Similarly, with regard to the bank’s second largest asset category — the
adjustable-rate mortgage-backed securities — the rates of return adopted in the
models are taken from published data reporting the yield of mortgage-backed
securities issued by the Federal National Mortgage Association and the Federd
Home Loan Mortgage Corporation. In addition, the rates of return shown in the
models correspond closely to theyield that was actually realized by the bank in 1989
on its adjustable-rate mortgage-backed securities portfolio.

Finally, asto the bank’ s retail mortgage portfolio (including both fixed-rate
and adjustable-rate mortgages), the yields shown in the models were based on the
prevailing Federa Home Loan Mortgage Corporation rates (for the fixed-rate
mortgages) and on the cost-of-funds index and one-year Treasury rates (for the
monthly and annually adjustable-rate mortgages) asreported in official publications.
The models assume that the portfolio mix between adjustable and fixed-rate
mortgages would correspond to market breakdowns.

Dr. Kaplan’smodel additionally assumesthat the bank would be ableto grow
its mortgage banking business to approximately $20 million worth of mortgage
originationsper month by theend of 1991 (from approximately $8.5 million monthly
experienced during 1989) and, in subsequent years, to sustain amortgage origination
rateroughly equal to one quarter of one percent of the state-wide annual originations
volume. Defendant criticizesthese numbers, particularly the above-industry growth
rates attributable to 1990 and 1991. We think these projections in growth are
legitimate, however, given that they are, in fact, smply a scale-back of numbersthat
were actually achieved during the yearsin question by a mortgage banking business
operated by the same complement of personnel that the bank would have employed
had it remained in business."”

Taken as awhole, the models' assumptions that the bank’ s total investment
portfolio would have yielded positive returns is well supported. Given this

18(...continued)
F. Supp. a 718; Neely, 285 F.2d at 443.

7 As indicated, the growth in the bank’s mortgage banking business that is
set forth in the opinion pertains to Dr. Kaplan’s model only. Dr. Losey’s model
relies on slightly different assumptions but reaches a result that does not sufficiently
differ from Dr. Kaplan’s model to warrant separate discussion.
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conclusion, and given also the conclusion previously reached — that plaintiffs have
established with reasonabl e certainty the bank’ saccessto reliablefunding sourcesfor
its expected investments — we come then to the decisive issue in the case: whether
the expensesidentified in the model s as the bank’ s expected costs of operation have
been established with sufficient certainty to support the conclusion that, over time,
the bank would have become ahighly profitableventure. Itisthisissuethat occupied
so much of the parties’ time at trial. After much deliberation, we conclude that, in
this aspect of their composition, the models' assumptions do not rise to the level of
reasonabl e certainty.

Two mattersin particular are of concern: the models assumptionsregarding
the bank’s commercial real estate portfolio and the assumptions made in respect to
the bank’ sinterest-rate hedging strategy. We discuss these in turn.

In the only year of its operation, 1989, the bank’ s revenues and net income
were serioudy affected by the troubled real estate loans and foreclosed-upon
properties that remained from its earlier years' venture into commercial real estate
lending. Of the$31.7 milliondollarsin commercial real estateloansthat wereonthe
bank’ sbooks at the start of 1989, nearly one-half ($14.8 million) had been classified
as“substandard,” i.e., loanswhose expected repayment in full was now guestionable
because of a subsequent impairment in the borrower’s paying capacity and/or a
deteriorationintheadequacy of theunderlying collateral. Substandardloanshold out
the distinct risk that the lending bank will suffer some loss.

In addition to the substandard loans, the bank was aso carrying a portfolio
of foreclosed-upon commercial real estate properties (referred to as “real estate
owned” or “REQ”) amounting to $11.4 million. Real estate owned generaly
signifies property that has lost value relative to the underlying loan amount and
consequently implies alossto the bank. Additionally, real estate owned represents
non-interest earning assets that further burden a bank with the expenses of property
ownership including taxes, insurance, utilities, and maintenance.

By the end of 1989, this drag on earnings had been only partially alleviated:
substandard loans had been reduced to $8.4 million (presumably through refinancing
arrangements) and real estate owned had been reduced to $6.1 million (through sale
of the propertiesinvolved).

It is these year-end numbers — $8.4 million of substandard loans and $6.1
million of REO — that are carried over to the experts models. In the incorporation
of these values into the bank’s projected operations, three assumptions are made.
First, the models assume that the bank would be able to dispose of these
underperforming assets over atwo-year period; second, that the assets would be sold
at their net book value without the need for further increasesin the bank’ s loan-loss
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reserves beyond amounts established at the end of 1989; and, third, that the
remainder of the bank’s commercial real estate loan portfolio (amounting to
approximately $13 million as of January 1990) would experience no further
deterioration in performance-quality. At base, then, the models presume that the
credit quality of the bank’s commercial real estate loan portfolio and the booked
value of its REO would remain unchanged over the years 1990 and 1991.

Thisisnot an assumption we can accept. Theevidencerevealsthat theyears
1990 and 1991 witnessed a significant downturn in the general economy, with the
commercial real estate markets in Arizona and California (the situs of the bank’s
commercial real estateloans) being particularly hard hit. Under these circumstances,
one cannot say with any degree of certainty that the bank would escape the necessity
for further write-downs either in its commercial real estate loan portfolio or in the
propertiesit acquired through foreclosure.

Dr. Kaplan answered this concern by pointing out that the bank had
undergone a rigorous “ safety and soundness’ examination in the fall of 1989 and
hence, in his view, its commercial rea estate loans could be expected to withstand
the strains of a declining economy without further downward adjustmentsin value.
Although this argument is not unreasonable in its own right, we are compelled to
note that over this same period of time (1990-1991), the experts models assume an
absence of growth in the bank’ s balance sheet for avariety of reasons, including, as
Dr. Kaplan notesin hisreport, “weakening conditionsinthe Arizonaand California
real estatemarkets.” Intheface of thisobservation—onewhich other evidenceinthe
record fully supports — the court cannot accept, as reasonably certain, Dr. Kaplan's
assumption that the reevaluation and reclassification of the bank’s commercial real
estate loan portfolio that occurred as part of the FDIC's 1989 bank examination
would have been sufficient to eliminate the need for future write-downs in that
portfolio. And such write-downs, were they to occur, would, of course, have
diminished the bank’ s assets and, correspondingly, would have given rise to a need
for additional capital beyond the $10 million infusion that the models have
assumed.*®

18 Although the views expressed in our opinion are specifically directed to

Dr. Kaplan’s model, similar criticisms would also apply to Dr. Losey’s model.
WhereasDr. Kaplan’ smodel assumesthat no further write-downsincommercial real
estate values would be required beyond those noted in the bank examination
conducted in the fall of 1989, Dr. Losey’s model takes essentially the opposite
approach. That isto say, Dr. Losey’s model disregards the write-downs reported in
the bank examination and, instead, assumes, that the bank’s commercial real estate
portfoliowould experience adeteriorationin valueroughly equal to thedeterioration
recorded by those thrift institutions that survived the Californiareal estate decline.
(continued...)
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The need for an additional capital infusion is a point whose significance we
return to later. For the moment, however, we move on to discuss the other
component of the bank’s various projected expensesthat is of particular concern to
the court, namely, the change in the bank’s interest rate hedging strategy that was
incorporated into the experts models.

First, someexplanation. Savingsand loaninstitutions (or “thrifts’) arefiscal
intermediaries — ingtitutions that borrow funds from one source, the thrift's
depositors, and lend them to another source, thethrift’sborrowers. The expectation
is that the difference between the cost of funds (i.e., the interest rate paid to the
depositors) and the rates of return realized upon the lending of those funds, will be
sufficient, after alowance for all costs of operation, to yield a profit. In the
management of this business, aparticular difficulty that thrifts confront (along with
other large lending institutions) isthat the earning assets (i.e., loansto borrowersand
other investments) typically mature at alater date than the liabilities that are used to
fund them (i.e., deposits). Because of thistiming difference, thrifts run the risk that
as their deposits mature, the cost of replacing them with other deposits may have
increased due to an intervening increase in interest rates. In such a situation, the
thrift would experience a decline in earned income because of the narrowing of the
spread between the interest being earned on assets and the interest being paid on
liabilities. Indeed, in extreme cases, the spread can becomenegative, thereby eroding
the thrift’s capital base. Thiswas, in fact, the condition that befell alarge segment
of the thrift industry in the 1980s.

To guard against these risks, thrifts now employ a variety of interest rate
hedging strategies, two of which are of importance to this case: swaps and Euro-
dollar CD put options. (CD refersto “certificate of deposit.”) Inaswap contract, the
bank agreesto pay a counter-party afixed rate of interest each month — say 9% on
anotiona amount of $180 million— in exchange for an agreed-upon variable rate
(onethat usually tracksthe prevailing short-terminterest rate). Thus, if the short-term
rate— and hence the rate the bank must pay to attract deposits— goes above the
fixed rate of 9%, the bank receives paymentsfromits counter-party that it caninturn
useto pay its depositors. If the short-term rate falls below the fixed rate of 9%, the
bank is able to pay less than 9% to attract deposits, but is obligated to pay the
difference between the 9% and the short-term rate to its counter-party. Under either
scenario, then, the bank’s cost of funds remains at 9%. In this manner, the bank

18(...continued)
As defendant’ s expert pointed out, however, such an approach not only disregards
the fact that the loans had already been identified as troubled loans, but compounds
that error by using as a yardstick numbers that are inherently biased because they
exclude the results (i.e., the losses) of institutions that did not survive the downturn
in the California economy.
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trades away the risks associated with the variability of the short-term interest ratein
favor of the certainty of afixed-payment obligation.

With a put option, by contrast, the bank avoids the burden of a fixed-rate
payment but assumes the short-term risk. That is the case because a put option
allows its purchaser to exercise the option — i.e., issue a certificate of deposit a a
pre-agreed interest rate at a pre-set time — only when doing so would be to the
financial advantage of the purchaser. Put differently, an option holder whose contract
allowsit toissue aCD at 9% in three-month’s time, would choose to exercise that
option only if, at the three-month mark, prevailing interest rates exceeded 9%. (The
bank would thus be able to issue CDs, i.e., obtain deposits, for lower than therate it
would be forced to pay on the open market.) If instead the interest rates were lower
than 9% at the three-month mark, the option holder would simply declineto exercise
its option. Put options thus allow a bank to place acap on its cost of funds, while at
the same time (and in contrast to swap contracts) taking advantage of declines in
interest rates. Asinterest rates rise, however, the price of put optionsriseaswell (in
contrast to swap contracts, which have no initial cost).

Returning now to the facts, in the early months of its operation under Castle
Harlan’s management, the bank began a rapid build-up of its high-yield bond
portfolio, funded primarily with brokered deposits. At the same time, it turned to
interest rate swaps as the principal hedging mechanism through which to protect
itself against theinterest-raterisk exposureinherent in shorter-term liabilities. Thus,
by the end of 1989, the bank had become a counterparty to some 18 separate swap
agreements under the terms of which it was obligated, asthe fixed-rate payor, to pay
an average interest rate of 9.63 percent on atotal notional amount of approximately
$180 million.

In the main, the swaps worked well for the bank. In thefirst five months of
their usein 1989 (April through August), the exchange of interest rates favored the
bank, i.e., the variable rate exceeded the fixed rate, and the bank therefore earned
interest income (from the swaps) in each of these months. Over this five-month
period, the bank recorded approximately $142,000 in swap-derived income. Inthe
final four months of the year, however, short-term rates began to fall below the
bank’s fixed-rate obligation; hence reversing the direction of the pay-out owing
under the swap contracts. The bank now became the paying party. Over the final
four months of the year, the swap contracts cost the bank approximately $262,000.

It isthischangein therelationship between long and short-term interest rates

that the bank experienced in the final four months of 1989 — the return to what is
called the normal yield curve — that takes us now to the experts models and to the
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change in hedging strategies that those models have assumed: the abandonment of
swaps in favor of Euro-dollar CD put options.™

No single assumption included in the experts modelsis more central to the
ultimate profitability of the bank than the bank’ s change in hedging strategiesfrom
interest rate swaps to Euro-dollar CD put options. Had the bank remained a
counterparty to the swaps, it would haverequired amuch larger capital infusion than
the $10 million the models assume. To quote Dr. Losey, the expert to whom the
changein hedging strategiesisattributable:® “It’ s possible that if they had stayedin
the [swap] hedge entirely, it’ s possiblethat the infusion needed would have been 15,
18, 20 [million dollars] — I’m not sure how much money but substantially more.”
Plainly put, without the assumed change in hedging strategies, the bank would not
have survived.

The troubling point about the proposed change in hedging strategiesis that
at the time the bank is assumed to make this move — sometime in thefirst quarter of
1990 — the bank’ s investment committee could not have foreseen the direction in
which interest rateswould move; hence, they could not have foreseen the magnitude
of the payout (the interest rate differential) that the swap contracts would ultimately
have required. Given this fact, the question that must be answered is this: Is the
change in interest rate hedging strategies that the models propose legitimately
justified on the basis of economic fundamentalsin placein the first quarter of 1990,
or isthat change simply the inspiration of hindsight?

Put options, we should say at the outset, are not inherently lower in cost than
swaps, nor do they offer amore efficient interest rate risk-management tool. Rather,
swaps and put options are essentially different approaches to the same problem. In
a swap, the bank, as the fixed-rate payer, trades away the risks associated with the
variability of the short-terminterest rate in favor of the certainty of afixed payment;
inaput option, on the other hand, the bank avoidsthe burden of afixed-rate payment
but assumes the short-term risk. Because of this difference in focus, swaps, on
average, are more efficient, i.e., provide better protection at lower cost, than putsin
arising interest rate environment and, conversely, are less efficient than putsin a
declining interest rate environment.

% Euro-dollar certificates of deposit are dollar deposit claims upon U.S.
banks deposited in banks outside of the United States.

% Although the changein hedging strategi esfrom swapsto put optionsoccurs
in each of the expert’'s models, the expertise associated with this idea rests
exclusively with Dr. Losey. While Dr. Kaplan incorporated the same concept into his
model, he acknowledged that his understanding of Euro-dollar CD put options was
limited to only ageneral familiarity with the subject.
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With these thoughts in mind, we come to the reasoning that was offered in
support of the assumption that the bank would buy out its swap commitments in
favor of relying on put options as its primary hedging mechanism. Two principal
reasons are given in support of the change — the first offered by Dr. Losey; the
second by Robert Wages, a Castle Harlan employee responsible for much of the
preliminary analyses leading up to the acquisition of the bank. Although Dr. Losey
gave anumber of reasonsto justify the changein hedging strategies, hiscore thought
wasthis: that the deterioration in the bank’ snet worth that had occurred during 1989,
coupled with the downward trend in interest rates that seemed to have taken hold,
would have prompted the bank to reexamine the wisdom of remainingin swaps. The
bank, Dr. L osey contended, would have cometo seethat swaps commanded too large
ashare of the bank’ sincome and therefore significantly diminished the likelihood of
its achieving profitability. Dr. Losey’s view is best set forth in his answer to the
guestion of how hethought John Castle might respond to the situation the bank found
itself in at the start of 1990: “1 think when he saw what had happened to the market
and saw that the profits of the institution had declined significantly and that their
market value of net worth had declined significantly, that logically at least, hewould
have been awarethat the put options gavetheinstitution asignificantly better chance
of turning around, of improving its situation.”

An alternate rationale for the assumed change in hedging strategies was
provided by Robert Wages. In hisview, the bank’s decision-making processwould
have been guided by the same considerations that Castle Harlan took into account
when examining hedging strategiesin respect to the investment funds Castle Harlan
itself managed. That decision, he explained, is guided by the spread between long
and short-term interest rates. Specifically, when long-term rates exceed short-term
rates—asituation referred to asthe“normal yield curve’ —the preferenceisto avoid
a fixed-rate payment obligation; hence, put options become the strategy of choice.
Conversely, when short-term rates equal or exceed long-term rates — a situation
referredtoasa“flat” or “inverted yield curve” —thereismore of anincentiveto pay,
rather than to receive, afixed rate; hence, swaps are favored. Mr. Wages summed
up his views this way: “It only makes sense to move away from swaps when you
have an upward sloping yield curve and the difference in the short rate and the long
rate is wide enough that over the course of a year or some period of visibility you
might want to look at, if rates stay wherethey are, that you’ re going to get a payback
on the premium you pay up front for the option. . . .[M]y experience is that you
normally need to have at |east 100 basi s point difference between short ratesand long
rates before it makes sense to look at getting out of the swap.”

On the face of it, the views expressed by Dr. Losey and Mr. Wages would
seem to offer imminently reasonable grounds for pursuing a change in hedging
strategies. But this court’s task is not to judge whether a given proposition is
reasonable in its own right. It is, rather, to decide whether that proposition, when
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offered as a prediction of alikely future occurrence, has enough experience behind
it to permit acourt to say that the predicted event is one reasonably certain to occur.
And that level of proof, as we said earlier, is achievable only through external
verification. We must be ableto find confirmation of the proposition at stake either
in the history of the undertaking or in the nature of the subject at issue. We do not
encounter that level of assurance here.

Not surprisingly, there is nothing in the bank’s brief operating history that
would help support the assumed changein hedging strategies. Swaps, rather than put
options, served as the bank’s primary hedging device throughout 1989. Nor do we
find much guidancein therisk management policiesand proceduresthat the bank had
adopted. Granted, these in-house guidelines do acknowledge that “[i]nterest rate
swap agreements will be offset or sold if the desired hedging goals can be met in a
cheaper or more efficient manner by utilizing another hedging strategy.” However,
the probative value of this statement istempered by the fact — as further noted in the
same in-house guidelines — that the bank’s genera requirement is for a hedging
strategy that will produce gains as rates increase and that such hedges “[u]sualy...
will producelossesasratesdecrease.” Based on thisstatement, we canrightfully say
that the bank was aware from the start of the downside risks associated with the use
of swaps but elected to rely upon them nevertheless.

The absence from the bank’s operating history of any changes in hedging
strategy of the sort now being contemplated, while disadvantageous to plaintiffs
position from aburden of proof standpoint, iscertainly not fatal. Evenintheabsence
of confirmatory past conduct, plaintiffs could still prevail in their position —i.e.,
establish the proposed change in interest rate hedging strategies to a degree of
reasonable certainty — if the economic fundamentals in place in the first quarter of
1990 (thetimethe changeisassumed to occur) convincingly demonstratethewisdom
of such amove.

Both Dr. Losey and Mr. Wages did, in fact, focus on such fundamentals. To
recall, Dr. Losey saw the change to put options as a means of arresting the dollar
outflow that the swap agreements were imposing on the bank in late 1989, and
which, if not abated, would have driven the bank into insolvency. Essentialy the
same thought was expressed by Mr. Wages. Hisview was that a change in hedging
strategies would be warranted when the interest rate yield curve returned to its
normal configuration —when long-term rates became higher than short-term rates—
and the spread between the two rates reached roughly 100 basis points, i.e., one
percent. (In thisenvironment, each 100-basis point spread between long and short-
term rates would impose a $1.8 million outflow on the bank if it remained with the
swaps up to the full notional amount of $180 million.)



No doubt, these arguments have substance. But they do not go far enough.
The problem each presentsisthis: the change in hedging strategies — from swaps to
put options — was not an expense-free undertaking. Were that change-over to have
been carried out in the first quarter of 1990, asthe experts models assume, it would
have cost the bank $3.1 million dollars — the buy-out cost of its fixed-payment
obligation under the swap contracts. To justify an expense of this magnitude— one
which, in essence, amounts to a very large bet in favor of a sustained downward
movement in short-term interest rates — the bank would have been obliged, by the
terms of its risk management policies and procedures, to have analyzed its interest
rate risk and determined, through such analysis, that a change to Euro-dollar CD put
options reduced that risk.?*

No such analysisaccompanied the experts models. Instead, weweretold by
Dr. Losey that the change in hedging strategies was, in part, justified by the decline
in short-term interest rates that was occurring throughout 1989. But that decline, as
Dr. Losey himself recognized, was simply part of a longer term trend of falling
interest rates that had been ongoing “since Paul Volker jacked interest rates up in
1980-81.” In other words, the trend was as much apparent in early 1989, when the
bank first entered into its five-year swap agreements, as it wasin early 1990, when
the relinquishment of swapsin favor of put options is assumed to occur.

And, just as the bank had chosen to rely on swaps as its primary hedging
strategy despite aprevailing downward trend in interest rates, so too did it make that
choice despite the fact that, over the five-year term of the swap contracts, the bank
could reasonably have anticipated the prevalence of anormal yield curve. Hence, the
likelihood of incurring anet expense over the life of the swaps would have been an
expected outcome. Thus, as the court sees it, the reasons that Dr. Losey and Mr.
Wages offered in support of achangein hedging strategieswerereasonsthat the bank

2! Some sense of the magnitude of this bet may be gleaned from the fact that,
if short-terminterest rateswereto riseto 9.63 percent (thestrike priceassumed in Dr.
Losey’s model) and remain at that level, then the bank, using at-the-money put
options (i.e., options with a strike price of 9.63 percent), would have had to
reestablish its hedge every six months at a cost, to start with, of $2.8 million. For
each subsequent six-month period, the cost of renewing the put options would have
declined by $279,000 reflecting the shortening maturity of thebank’ shigh-yield bond
portfolio.

Asapoint of reference, we show here the monthly short-term interest rates
that prevailed in 1989: January — 9.38%; February — 10.31%; March— 10.31%;
April — 9.94%; May — 9.56%; June — 9.31%; July — 8.56%; August —
9.00%; September — 9.19%; October — 8.69%; November — 8.50%; and
December — 8.38%.
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could reasonably have been expected to take into account at the time the swap
contracts were executed. In short, those reasons make out no case for a changein
hedging strategies — at least not one that this court can now endorse under the
criterion of reasonable certainty.

We do not mean to say that the bank would forever remain wedded to its
swap contracts. Rather, our point is only that one cannot say with reasonable
certainty that the bank would have been so quick to jettison the swap contracts in
favor of put options— having experienced only four months of negative interest rate
payments, all of which were foreseeable from the inception of those contracts—and,
at the sametime, incur a $3 million expense as the price of doing so.

Indeed, the testimony itself lends force to our concern about the timing of a
change. InDr. Losey’s model, for example, the assumption is that the bank would
close-out its swap contractsin January 1990. According to Mr. Wages, however, the
more likely exit time would have been in the March-April 1990 period when the
spread between long and short-term interest rates first crossed the 100 basis-point
threshold. (There was also testimony to the effect that the bank would have been
prompted to make at least a partial change to put options in February 1990 because
of the bankruptcy of Drexel Burnham Lambert, Inc., a brokerage firm that was the
counterparty on approximately one-third of the bank’s $180 million in swap
contracts.)

We cannot, of course, be certain when the change would have occurred or,
for that matter, whether it would have occurred at al. This much, however, isclear:
the timing is critical to the sufficiency of the $10 million capital infusion that the
experts models assume. The cost to exit the swaps at any time after the end of the
first quarter of 1990 beginsto risedramatically fromthelow point of $1.8 million (at
the end of March) to $8.4 million by year's end. (And, after 1990, with the
continuing declinein interest rates, the exit costs become even larger.) The upshot,
then, isthis: to effect the change in hedging strategy at any time other than during the
predicted first quarter of 1990 would have demanded substantially more money from
the bank’ sinvestors.

The last point brings us now to our final thought on the issue of reasonable
certainty. Throughout the course of these proceedings, plaintiffshave urged the court
to view the experts models as depictions of areasonably probable course of events
rather than as forecasts of certainty. In keeping with that approach, we have been
asked to recognize that, had the bank been permitted to operate in the post-FIRREA
world, thecapital infusionit would actually haverequired might either havebeenless
or, if necessary, more than the $10 million that the models assume. Therefore, the
thought continues, to the extent the court is unabl e to accept some of themodels' cost
assumptions (as, in fact, is the case with regard to the expenses identified with the
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commercial real estate portfolio and the change in hedging strategies), we should at
the same time recogni ze that the investors would be willing and able to address any
resulting capital shortfall.

The court has, infact, approached the evaluation of the experts’ modelswith
the degree of flexibility that reasonableness would demand of any prediction
regarding future events and circumstances. Pinpoint accuracy has not been our
expectation. In that spirit, we accept the premise that the investors would not have
allowed the bank tofail if the capital infusion actually required had turned out to be,
say, $11 million instead of the assumed $10 million.

But that flexibility in approach hasitslimits. Thecourt cannot simply assume
that whatever capital shortfall might occur, the investorswould have been willing to
make up the difference. At the start of the undertaking, the Castle Harlan group
projected agrowth in stockholders' equity from $12.0 millionto $147.4 million over
an eight-year period. This equates to an average annual return of 36.8 percent.
However, with the addition of another $10 million to the capital base (the assumed
capital infusion), the average annual rate of return is reduced to 26.8 percent. Thus,
to have approached the experts modelswith that degree of | atitude in judgment now
being asked of us, the question that needed to be answered — but was not — is how
much more the investors would have been willing to put into the venture before
reaching their tipping point, i.e., before the market could be seen as offering more
attractive investment opportunities elsewhere. The experts never took on this
essential question.

In the final analysis, then, even if we could quantify the extent of our
disagreement with the experts’ cost assumptions, we could not go on to the next step:
to say with the confidencethat reasonabl e certainty demandsthat theinvestorswould
have been willing to make up the difference. We end on that note.

Dr. Losey’ s Alternative Damages Calculation

Inadditionto hislost profitsmodel, Dr. Losey offered an alternative damages
calculation that attempted to establish avaluefor the contract measured asof the date
the contract was signed. Using thisex ante approach, Dr. Losey focused on what he
considered to bethe chief component of valuein the bank’ s contract —itsright to the
leveraged purchasing of high-yield bonds, using, as a principal source of funds,
lower-cost government-insured deposit accounts. ($15 million of capital could
support a $263 million bond portfolio.)

In determining the value of thisright, Dr. Losey relied on three factors: (i) a
projected volume or dollar amount of high-yield bonds that the bank would
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eventually acquire; (ii) an assumed spread between high-yield bond rates and the
bank’s cost of funds (adjusted for expected defaults and other related expenses,
including the costs associated with the management of interest raterisk, i.e., the cost
of hedging strategies); and (iii) a discount factor to determine present values. Using
this methodol ogy, Dr. Losey determined that, as of the date of contracting, the year-
end 1988 value of the bank’s right to acquire and hold high-yield bonds was
approximately $31.1 million. Thisfigure, Dr. Losey further explained, would vary
only dlightly if measured as of the date of the breach rather than the date of the
contract.

We cannot accept this approach. Expectancy damages, as the Restatement
pointsout, are* not based on theinjured party’ s hopes when he made the contract but
on the actual value that the contract would have had to him had it been performed.
... Itistherefore based on the circumstances at the time for performance and not
those at the time of the making of the contract.” Restatement § 344 cmt. b. Dr.
Losey’s ex ante approach is fundamentally out of line with this rule and therefore
cannot be endorsed.

However, evenif contract law could accommodate adamages analysis of the
present sort, wewould still find itsparticular application hereunacceptable. Boththe
narrowness of Dr. Losey’ sfocus (the ex ante approach addresses only the high-yield
bond portfolio without regard to the other components of the bank’s business) and
the paucity of detail that he builds on, would compel us to reject this approach for
lack of substantivereliability. Indeed, the approach isnot much morethan an outline
of damages.

Restitution Interest

We proceed now to the second theory of recovery on which plaintiffs rely:
restitution. In contrast to expectation damages which seek to put aninjured party in
as good a position as he would have been in had the contract been performed,
restitution serves as an aternative remedy for breach that attempts to return an
injured party to the position he wasin before the contract was formed. Restatement
8373 cmt. a. Thus, restitution focuses on disaffirmance of the contract as opposed
to its enforcement.

The rationale that guides the application of restitution in the contractual
setting has been aternately described. The Restatement, for example, relates the
protection of aparty’ srestitutionary interest to“the prevention of unjust enrichment.”
Restatement (Second) of Contracts (Introductory note preceding 8 370). Case law,
on the other hand, puts its focus on restoration of the parties status preceding the
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contract’s execution. See Acme Process Equip. Co. v. United States, 347 F.2d 509,
530 (Ct. Cl. 1965), rev’d on other grounds, 385 U.S. 138 (1966) (“[R]estitution is
permitted as an aternative remedy for breach of contract in an effort to restore the
innocent party to itspre-contract status quo, and not to prevent the unjust enrichment
of the breaching party.”); Resolution Trust Corp. v. Federal Sav. & Loan Ins. Ass'n,
25 F.3d 1493, 1504 (10™ Cir. 1994) (“The purpose of . . . restitution is to put the
plaintiff inasgood aposition asit enjoyed before the contract was made by requiring
the defendant to restore the value of plaintiff’s part performance or reliance.”).
Irrespective of doctrinal orientation, however, the essential requirement for the
recognition of arestitutionary remedy isthat abenefit have been conferred: “A party
isentitled to restitution . . . only to the extent that he has conferred a benefit on the
other party by way of part performance or reliance.” Restatement § 370.

Consistent with this requirement, plaintiffs advance three restitutionary
formulas, each centered on a benefit allegedly conferred on the government. The
first, which they refer to as the “cost of performance,” seeks recovery of the
approximately $15.1 million that was used to recapitalize the bank at the outset of the
venture. The second, which they caption “theinitial benefit conferred,” restson the
assumption that the benefit conferred is most appropriately measured by the costs
whichthegovernment avoided asaresult of plaintiffs take-over of thebank. (Inthis
context, the term “avoided costs’ refers to the costs which the government is
presumed to have saved by not having to liquidate the bank.) Asof the end of 1988,
the costs avoided are claimed to be $20.75 million.

The third of the restitutionary formulas plaintiffs would have us consider is
one they refer to as “the total benefit conferred.” This approach isthe sum of three
components:. plaintiffs’ initial capital contribution ($15.1 million less $1.5 million
of non-contributory transaction costs); the bank’ s earnings from date of take-over,
January 1989 until February 1990 ($8.24 million per plaintiffs’ calculation); and the
investment earnings (i.e., interest) which the government presumably realized from
the liquidation costs avoided over the thirteen-month period of plaintiffs manage-
ment of the bank ($13.74 million per plaintiffs estimation). The sum of these
numbers comes to roughly $35.6 million. Plaintiffs assert that, in accordance with
accepted principles of restitution, they are entitled to an award of the highest of the
three amounts identified above.

Inthe court’ s view, plaintiffs are entitled to restitution in the amount of their
original investment — $15,122,360. We come to our conclusion by several steps.
First, as aready noted, restitution as a contract remedy requires that a benefit have
been conferred. In determining whether abenefit has been conferred, welook to the
terms of the agreed exchange: “[t]he benefit isordinarily conferred by performance
by the party seeking restitution, and receipt by the other party of performancethat he
bargained for isregarded asabenefit.” Restatement 8 370 cmt. a. Inthiscase, what
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the government bargained for and received was an infusion of capital into an ailing
bank and the subsequent operation of that bank in accordance with an approved
business plan. The government got what it bargained for; hence, restitution is
available.

Second, where restitution is to be accomplished through an award of money
(as opposed to specific restitution), the value of the benefit conferred may be
measured either by its market value — “what it would have cost [the recipient] to
obtain it from aperson in the claimant’ s position,” Restatement § 371(a) —or by its
enrichment value—*the extent to which [therecipient’ s] property hasbeen increased
in value or his other interests advanced.” Restatement 8§ 371(b). Under neither of
these standards, however, would it be appropriateto measure the val ue of the benefit
conferred by expenditures the recipient may have avoided as aresult of the transfer.
Such collateral advantages, whilethey may derivefrom thebenefit conferred, still are
not part of it. Fundamentally, restitution is arestorative remedy — one that seeks to
return to the giver the reasonable value of what was given. The remedy’sfocusis
upon the diminution in value of the injured party’s estate. Restitution does not
permit the injured party to expand the value of the benefit conferred beyond the
amount for which that benefit could have been acquired in the market place. See
Restatement 8 371 cmt. b, illus. 2; 5 Corbin, Contracts § 1112 (1964 & Supp. 1999).

Finally, in determining the amount of plaintiffs restitutionary award, it does
not matter that, at the time the breach occurred, the bank was worth less than the
amount plaintiffs had initially contributed. Nor is it significant that the costs to
liquidate the bank in 1990 were greater than those costs would have been had the
liquidation been carried out in 1988. Given the limited time plaintiffs had available
before the breach in which to prove the merits of their business plan, the bank’s
subsequent operating history isirrelevant. Plaintiffs are entitled to the value of the
benefit they conferred, measured as of the time their performance took place. 1
George E. Pamer, The Law of Restitution 8 4.2, at 372 (1978).

Inaccordancewith theforegoing discussion, plaintiffsareentitled toanaward
in restitution of $15,122,360 —the amount they contributed to the capital of the bank.

In addition to requiring the return of plaintiffs $15.1 million capital
contribution, the court has also considered the question of whether they may recover
interest on that amount. Restitution, properly administered, would certainly favor
such aresult, for only through the addition of interest can we truly restore plaintiffs
to the economic position they were in before the contract was executed.

Despite the appropriateness of alowing interest as part of the award,

however, statutory constraints compel us to withhold that additional measure of
restitution. The relevant statute, 28 U.S.C. § 2516(a) (1994), states in unequivocal
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terms that “[i]nterest on a claim against the United States shall be allowed in a
judgment of the United States Court of Federal Claims only under a contract or Act
of Congress expressly providing for payment thereof.”

We cannot avoid the barrier of the statute by identifying interest as part of the
judgment as opposed to interest on the judgment. The prohibition extends to any
form of award for the time value of money that has not been authorized by the
express terms of the transaction sued on. United States v. Mescalero Apache Tribe,
518 F.2d 1309, 1315-21 (Ct. Cl. 1975), cert. denied, 425 U.S. 911 (1976); Far West
Fed. Bank v. OTS, 119 F.3d 1358, 1366 (9" Cir. 1997). Plaintiffs recovery in
restitution cannot, therefore exceed the $15.1 awarded.

Fifth Amendment Taking

Having adjudicated plaintiffs' contract claims, weturn finaly to the third of
plaintiffsS counts: a claim for the recovery of just compensation under the Fifth
Amendment to the United States Constitution. Specifically, and intheaternativeto
their contract-based claims, plaintiffs contend that the passage of FIRREA effected
a taking of both their ownership interest in Western Empire and their contractual
agreement with the government.? In response, defendant arguesthat the only rights
and remedies available to plaintiffs are those arising from their contract. Thus, in
defendant’ s view, the sole right plaintiffs possess is the right to monetary damages
in the event of contractual non-performance, and the soleremedy open to themisfor
breach of contract.

Plaintiffs are of course correct in their assertion that contracts — including
those with the federal government — constitute property rights within the meaning
of the Fifth Amendment. Lynchv. United States, 292 U.S. 571, 579 (1934) (“Rights
against the United States arising out of a contract with it are protected by the Fifth
Amendment.”). Where the government so interferes with an individual’ s contract
rights as to effectuate a taking, it cannot avoid the payment of just compensation.

22 As previously mentioned, plaintiffs have urged us to address their taking
claim despite our having ruled on their contract-based claims. Because of the
significance of that issue, and in the interest of judicial economy, we have
complied. Sun QOil Co. v. United States, 572 F.2d 786, 817- 818 (Ct. Cl. 1978);
Chandler v. Hibberd, 332 P.2d 133, 140 (Cal. App. 1958).
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But as this court and its predecessor court have held, “the concept of ataking as a
compensable claim theory has limited application to the relative rights of party
litigants when those rights have been voluntarily created by contract. In such
instances, interference with such contractual rights generally givesrise to a breach
claim not ataking claim.” Sun Oil Co. v. United States, 572 F.2d 786, 818 (Ct. Cl.
1978) (citation omitted).

In defendant’ s view, a plaintiff cannot pursue a takings claim for a govern-
ment action that interferes with property rights, where those rights were voluntarily
created by contract. Sun Oil, supra, is cited in support of this proposition. In
contrast, plaintiffs interpret Sun Oil as standing for the principle that a breach of
contract claim is the exclusive remedy when the government has acted solely in its
proprietary capacity (ascontractor), but that atakings claim may be pursued whenthe
government has exercised its sovereign authority. After a careful consideration of
the relevant caselaw, we conclude that neither side’ sinterpretation fully answersthe
guestion at hand: whether plaintiffsin fact have aproperty right that has been taken.

Thedifficulty with defendant’ spositionisthat alitigant may indeed maintain
a takings action even where its rights have been created exclusively by contract.
Lynch v. United States — a case in which the plaintiff was eligible for just
compensation when its contractually created right to war risk insurance was
abrogated by statute — offers us an example. Similarly, while plaintiffs may be
correct that a sovereign act is a prerequisite to invoking the Takings Clause,® that
observation does ittle to answer whether anything has in fact been taken. Branch v.
United States, 69 F.3d 1571, 1575 (Fed. Cir. 1995) (“In analyzing a takings claim,
acourt must first determine what was taken.”).

In the oft-repeated words of Armstrong v. United States, 364 U.S. 40, 49
(1960), the Fifth Amendment is designed “to bar Government from forcing some
peoplea oneto bear public burdenswhich, inall fairnessand justice, should beborne
by the publicasawhole.” Atitscore, the Fifth Amendment providesaguaranteethat
the government will neither contravene the settled expectations that make up the
essence of property rights nor dramatically diminish property values without paying
just compensation. Whether a taking has occurred therefore depends on the nature
and scope of the property right at stake.

% To the extent that the case law draws adistinction between proprietary and
sovereign acts, that dichotomy becomes less meaningful in light of the Supreme
Court’ s pronouncement in Winstar that “the inescapable conclusion . . . isthat the
Government's‘regulatory’ and‘ nonregulatory’ capacitieswerefusedintheinstances
under consideration, and we suspect that such fusion will be so common in the
modern regulatory state as to leave a criterion of ‘regulation’ without much use in
defining the scope of the sovereign acts doctrine.” Winstar, 518 U.S. at 894.
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In the present case, any rights the plaintiffs possess were conferred on them
by contract. But as Justice Scalia' s concurring opinion in Winstar makes clear, the
formation of a contract does not entitle its signatories to absolute performance, but
rather gives rise to the expectation either that the contract will be performed or that
the non-breaching party will have availableto it acontract-based remedy. “Virtually
every contract operates, not as a guarantee of particular future conduct, but as an
assumption of liability in the event of nonperformance. The duty to keep a contract
at common law means a prediction that you must pay damagesif you do not keep it,
and nothing else.” Winstar, 518 U.S. at 919 (Scalia, J., concurring) (citing Holmes,
The Path of the Law (1897), in 3 The Collected Works of Justice Holmes 391, 394
(S. Novick ed. 1995)).

Thesavings & loan plaintiffs, the Winstar Court concluded, have no absolute
right to the regulatory treatment specified in their contracts, but only a right to be
compensated should that regulatory treatment be altered. The government was thus
free to impose new requirements on Western Empire, so long asit insured the bank
against the losses associated with that change. See Winstar, 518 U.S. at 870.
Becausethe present plaintiffs have available, and indeed have successfully pursued,
contract-based claims, plaintiffs’ expectationswith regard to their property interests
have not been contravened and the val ue of those interests have not been diminished.
Accordingly, we are unable to conclude that plaintiffs have suffered a taking.

Plaintiffsargue, however, that the cases on which they chiefly rely — Lynch,
292 U.S. 571; Prudential Ins. Co. v. United States, 801 F.2d 1295 (Fed. Cir. 1986);
and Cleveland Bd. of Educ. v. Loudermill, 470 U.S. 532 (1985) — require us to
reach adifferent conclusion. Yet, none of those cases challengesthe basic principle
that alitigant to whom a contract remedy is available has not been deprived of the
rights conferred on him by contract. InLynch, for instance, the plaintiff waseligible
for just compensation becausetheright to the proceeds owed her asbeneficiary under
a government-issued war-risk insurance contract was abrogated by statute, leaving
that plaintiff without recourseto abreach of contract claim. Indeed, the government
in Lynch defended on the ground that the court had no jurisdiction since plaintiff’s
rights had essentially been eliminated.? Lynch, 292 U.S. at 575.

2 Other courts have characterized the Lynch holding as standing for the
proposition that a taking occurs when the government “repudiates debts to save
money.” Buse Timber & Sales, Inc. v. United Sates, 45 Fed. Cl. 258, 263 (1999).
Because arefusal to pay money owed under acontract essentially deprivesalitigant
of any contractual remedy (since a contract, by definition, is an agreement to pay
money in the event of breach), we endorse the view that such a scenario constitutes
ataking.
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Similarly, plaintiffsdirect our attention to Prudential Ins. Co. v. United States,
801 F.2d at 1300 n.13, in which the court observed that a landlord suing for the
government’s breach of aleasing contract (the government had failed to quit the
premises at the end of the lease term) “may have an aternate avenue of relief under
the Takings Clause of the Fifth Amendment.” Resort to the takings clause in that
example, however, was warranted by the fact that the landowner had rights in the
property separate and distinct from any rights conferred by contract. The principle
that the right is intact so long as the remedy is available simply does not apply to
rights that exist independent of a contract.

Nor does Cleveland Bd. of Educ. v. L oudermill support plaintiffs’ position.
The question presented in that case was whether the discharge of a public employee
in accordance with the procedures applicable to his position was constitutionally
permissible where those procedures aff orded the empl oyee neither an opportunity to
respond to the charges against him nor the right to challenge his dismissal. In
regjecting the state’ s contention that the employee’ sproperty right in his position was
limited by the procedures afforded for its protection, the court repeated what it had
earlier said in Arnett v. Kennedy, 416 U.S. 134, 167 (1974): “While the legidature
may elect not to confer a property interest in [public] employment, it may not
constitutionally authorizethedeprivation of such aninterest, onceconferred, without
appropriate procedural safeguard.” Loudermill, 470 U.S. at 541. The Constitution’s
requirement of due process, the Court went on to say, demanded that the employee
be given an opportunity to addressthe charges made against him before hisdischarge
became effective. |d. at 547-548.

Plaintiffs argue that Loudermill poses a direct paralel to our case. In the
same way that an employee with a property interest in his position may not be
deprived of that position without observance of the protections assured by the Due
Process Clause of the Constitution, plaintiffs contend, so neither may a party with a
property interest in his contract be deprived of the value of that contract without
payment of the just compensation assured by the Takings Clause of the Constitution.
Andsince, in plaintiffs’ view, the remedy for agovernmental taking isnot provided
by statute (or the common law of contract), but rather the Constitution itself, the
guestion of what compensation isjust cannot be resolved by referenceto an external
source of remedial law but rather by the plain terms of the Fifth Amendment.

Plaintiffs are correct that the Takings Clause — like the common law right
to damages — forms the backdrop against which contractual relationships are
created. They are equally correct that constitutional protections can be neither
contracted away nor otherwisewaived. That isnot to say, however, that by rejecting
the existence of a taking, we are somehow denying plaintiffs a larger, extra
contractual protection afforded by the Constitution. Loudermill, in our view, smply
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stands for the proposition that the Constitution provides a minimum level of
protection to property rights, and that resort to aconstitutional remedy isappropriate
when the state hasinfringed on thoserights. As discussed above, the Takings Clause
would beimplicated in the present caseif the government had taken away the range
of remedies associated with the vindication of a contract. That it has not done.

Weturnthentotwo of plaintiffs' contentionsthat we believe merit additional
attention. Thefirstisthe assertion that if plaintiffsrecover lessthan *just compensa-
tion” (e.q., because the court denieslost profits or because contract damages cannot
include pre-judgment interest), the Fifth Amendment requires the government to
make up the difference. The second is that the seizure of the bank itself representsa
per setaking, quite apart from any taking of contract rights.

As to the first assertion, plaintiffs rule proves too much. If we were to
characterizeasataking thefailureto award pre-judgment interest on acontract claim,
we would essentially invalidate the law’ s proscription against the allowance of pre-
judgment interest when not specified by contract or congressional act. 28 U.S.C. 8§
2516 (a). Further, the congressional waiver of sovereign immunity only in those
instances where interest is specifically provided for by contract or congressional act
means that, in the absence of those circumstances, plaintiffs have no reasonable
expectation — and hence no property interest — in the money they might otherwise
have earned as interest on an earlier-paid judgment.

Similarly, the court’s refusal to award lost profits does not transform
plaintiffs loss into a taking. As discussed earlier, the court was not reasonably
convinced that profits would have existed, so the failure to award them in no way
diminishes the value of plaintiffs’ contract rights.

Asto the second assertion, we see no reason to contempl ate ataking that does
not involve the taking of contract rights. Thelaw is clear that the seizure of a bank
that fails to meet regulatory capital requirements does not constitute a taking. See
Branch, 69 F.3d at 1575 (“ The seizure and closure of the bank, once the bank became
insolvent, did not constitute a taking.”). While plaintiffs attempt to distinguish
Branch on the ground that their contract afforded them alegitimate expectation that
thelawsgoverning thethrift would not change, the Winstar decision makesclear that
plaintiffs had no entitlement to a specific regulatory treatment as distinguished from
the entitlement to damages in the event of regulatory change. Winstar, 518 U.S. at
868-870.%

% There the Court wrote:

It isimportant to be clear about what these contracts did and did not
(continued...)
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Finally, because we hold that no property right has been taken, we do not
reach the question, posed by the FDIC, of whether the private plaintiffs or the
receiver should properly be considered the owner of the property right at stake.

CONCLUSION

After more than ten years of litigation and four full months of trial, we now
reach the end of plaintiffs' tenure before this court. While plaintiffs presented a
strong and exceedingly well-argued case on behalf of their claim for lost profits, we
were ultimately unable to conclude that the events depicted in the models were
sufficiently rooted in the real-world experiences of the bank to allow us to accept
either the existence of damagesor the amount of damageswith any reasonabledegree
of certainty. Without that minimum guarantee of reliability, we were thus forced to
conclude that plaintiffs’ bid for lost profits must fail.

Nor, intheend, could we accept plaintiffs’ contention that they have suffered
a Fifth Amendment taking. Plaintiffs' contract entitled them to the very contract
remedies they have come here to pursue — remedies which now afford them
recovery in restitution of $15.12 million. Plaintiffs have been deprived of neither a
property right nor a contract right.

Finally, we conclude that although the FDIC isthe proper party to prosecute
the bank’s breach of contract claim, that authority does not extend to claims for

2(...continued)

require of the Government. Nothing in the documentation or the
circumstances of these transactions purported to bar the Government
from changing the way in which it regulated the thrift industry.
Rather, what the Federal Circuit said of the Glendale transaction is
true of the Winstar and Statesman dealsaswell: "the Bank Board and
the FSLIC were contractually bound to recognize the supervisory
goodwill and the amortization periods reflected” in the agreements
between the parties. Weread this promise asthelaw of contracts has
always treated promises to provide something beyond the promisor's
absolute control, that is, as a promise to insure the promisee against
loss arising from the promised condition's nonoccurrence. . . .
Restatement (Second) of Contracts § 264, Comment a. "Such an
agreement,” according to the Restatement, "is usually interpreted as
one to pay damages if performance is prevented rather than one to
render a performance in violation of law.”
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money owed the government by the government. In addition, the award in
restitution, essentially returning plaintiffsto their pre-contract position (without, of
course, the not insubstantial benefit of the interest that would have been made on
those sums) should be awarded directly to the shareholder-plaintiffs, and not to the
FDIC.

For the reasons stated, the clerk isdirected to enter judgment (i) granting the

shareholder-plaintiffsrestitutionintheamount of $15,122,360 and (ii) dismissing the
complaint of the plaintiff-intervenor, the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation.
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